
COMMITTEE: JOINT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: MONDAY, 23 OCTOBER 2023 

9.30 AM 
 

 
 

VENUE: KING EDMUND CHAMBER, 
ENDEAVOUR HOUSE, 8 
RUSSELL ROAD, IPSWICH 
 

 
Members 

Conservative 
James Caston 
Brian Riley 
 
Independent 
Kathryn Grandon 
Mary McLaren 
 
Liberal Democrat 
Keith Scarff 
John Whyman 

Green Party 
Terence Carter 
Leigh Jamieson 
Janet Pearson 
Ross Piper 
Miles Row 
Laura Smith 

 
The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or 
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.  Any 
member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the 
Committee Clerk. 
 

A G E N D A  
 

PART 1 
MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT 

 Page(s) 
  
1   APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES  

 

 

 
2   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

 

 

 
3   JOS/23/20 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 

ON 18 SEPTEMBER 2023  
 

5 - 12 

 
4   TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH THE COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME  
 

 

 
5   QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC  

 
To consider questions from and provide answers to members of the 
public on any matter in relation to which the Committee has powers 
or duties and of which due notice has been given in accordance with 
the Committee and Sub-Committee Procedures Rules. 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



6   QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS  
 
To consider questions from and provide answers to Councillors on 
any matter in relation to which the Committee has powers or duties 
and of which due notice has been given in accordance with the 
Committee and Sub-Committee Procedure Rules. 
 

 

 
7   JOS/23/21 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE JOINT HOMES AND 

HOUSING STRATEGY  
 

13 - 64 

 
8   JOS/23/22 FORTHCOMING DECISIONS LIST  

 
To review the Council’s Forthcoming Decisions List and identify any 
items to be brought before the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
  
Please note the most up to date version can be found via the 
Website: 
  
Forthcoming Decisions List » Babergh Mid Suffolk 
 

 

 
9   JOS/23/23 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTION TRACKER  

 
65 - 68 

 
10   JOS/23/24 BABERGH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PLAN  

 
To agree the Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan 
 

69 - 70 

 
11   JOS/23/25 MID SUFFOLK OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK 

PLAN  
 
To agree the Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan 
 

71 - 72 

 
Date and Time of next meeting 
 
Please note that the next meeting is scheduled for 20 November 2023 at 09:30am. 
 
For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for 
people with disabilities, please contact the Committee Officer, A. Norman on: 01473 
296384 or Email: Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk  
 
 

 
 

Page 2

https://www.babergh.gov.uk/web/babergh/w/forthcoming-decisions-list
mailto:Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


 
Introduction to Public Meetings 

 
Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government.  The 
proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt 
items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public. 
 
 
 
Domestic Arrangements: 
 
• Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room. 
• Cold water is also available outside opposite the room. 
• Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent. 

 
 
Evacuating the building in an emergency:  Information for Visitors: 
 
If you hear the alarm: 
 
1. Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly 

Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground). 
 
2. Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor. 
 
3. Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways).  If you are in the Atrium 

at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit. 
 
4. Use the stairs, not the lifts. 
 
5. Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BABERGH AND MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCILS 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in 
the King Edmund Chamber, Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Monday, 18 
September 2023 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Chair: Mary McLaren  

  
 
Councillors: Jane Carruthers Terence Carter 
 Kathryn Grandon Adrienne Marriott 
 John Matthissen Mary McLaren 
 Brian Riley Laura Smith 
 Rowland Warboys John Whyman 
 
In attendance: 
 
Councillor(s): 
 

Andrew Mellen 

Witness(es): 
 

Grant Tuffs – Regional Engagement Manager – Anglian Water 
Natasha Kenny – Head of Quality Regulation & Enforcement – Anglian 
Water 
Ben Marshall – Senior Environmental Officer – Environment Agency 
Alison Parnell – Area Environment Manager – Environment Agency 
Nikolas Bertholdt – Senior Advisor – Natural England 
John Kemp – River Stour Trust 

 
Officers: 

  
Director for Operations (ME) 
Director for Planning (TB) 
Corporate Manager – Public Realm (NC) 
Strategic Projects and Delivery Manager (SS) 
Corporate Manager – Governance and Civic Office (JR) 
Lead Officer for Overview and Scrutiny (AN) 

 
Apologies: 
 
Councillors: James Caston 

Leigh Jamieson 
Janet Pearson 
Dr Ross Piper 
Miles Row 
Keith Scarff 

  
24 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

 
 24.1    Apologies were received from Councillors Caston, Jamieson, Pearson, Piper, 

Row, and Scarff. 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

24.2    Councillor Carruthers substituted for Councillor Jamieson. 
  
24.3    Councillor Warboys substituted for Councillor Pearson. 
  
24.4    Councillor Matthissen substituted for Councillor Row. 
  
24.5    Councillor Marriott substituted for Councillor Scarff. 
  

25 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 

 25.1    None declared. 
   

26 JOS/23/14 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE JOINT MEETING HELD ON 21 
AUGUST 2023 
 

 26.1    Councillor Grandon proposed that the minutes of the meeting on 21 August 
2023 be confirmed and signed as a true record. 

  
26.2    Councillor Whyman seconded the proposal.  
  
By a vote of 5 For and 5 Abstentions  
  
It was RESOLVED: 
  
That the minutes of the meeting from 21 August 2023 be confirmed and signed 
as a true record. 
  

27 TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME 
 

 27.1    None received. 
   

28 QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC 
 

 28.1    None received. 
   

29 QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS 
 

 29.1    None received. 
   

30 JOS/23/15 REVIEW ON CURRENT LEVELS OF UNTREATED SEWAGE 
DISCHARGES TO WATERS IN BABERGH AND MID SUFFOLK 
 

 30.1    The Director of Operations introduced the item to the Committee outlining 
before Members the approved motion from both Councils in November 2022, 
stakeholder responsibilities, and the background information provided by 
internal officers in the information bulletin. 

  
30.2    Anglian Water provided a presentation to the Committee outlining before 

Members the operational background of the organisation, the current strategic 

Page 6



 

goals, the five “Get River Positive” commitments, investment into the 
reduction of storm spills, water recycling programmes, storm overflows and 
their designated permits, and event duration monitors (EDMs) installation and 
maintenance.  

  
30.3    Representatives from the Environment Agency, Natural England, and the 

River Stour Trust introduced themselves to the committee and outlined before 
Members their organisation’s purpose in managing rivers in the Districts. 

  
30.4    Councillor Matthissen questioned the reasons for the frequency of storm spills 

given, on average, the districts receive very little rainfall. Anglian Water 
responded that external factors, such as fats in the sewage system and 
blockages, were affecting activations of storm spills and that a third of these 
activations were false events. 

  
30.5    Councillor Warboys queried if Anglian Water were able to provide planning 

officers with more detailed information regarding costs and capacity in their 
consultee responses. Anglian Water responded that they were not statutory 
consultees in the planning process and that there were legislative restrictions 
to the information that they could provide.  

  
30.6    Councillor Marriott queried if there was a strategy for removing excessive 

plant growth from rivers. The Environment Agency responded that greenery in 
the rivers would be cut back if there was a direct benefit to domestic 
properties and businesses but that there were mitigations in place, specifically 
regarding flow rates and nutrient levels, that would reduce plant growth.  

  
30.7    Councillor Marriott requested if Councillors could receive more educational 

training on catchment sensitive farming to work collaboratively with farmers in 
their wards to protect water quality. Natural England responded that was a 
session they would be keen to support and deliver.  

  
30.8    Councillor Grandon questioned what could be done to improve the levels of 

biodiversity and wildlife in the rivers in Hadleigh. Anglian Water responded 
that there was a phosphorous scheme being delivered at the Hadleigh Water 
Recycling Centre which would reduce the levels of phosphates in the system, 
therefore reducing plant growth and encouraging wildlife to return. The 
Environment Agency responded that, if needed, an aerator could be added to 
the water supply to increase oxygen levels and improve the habitat for 
wildlife.   

 
30.9    Councillor Riley questioned how soon improvements could be made to water 

quality in the rivers to raise their status from “poor” to “good”. The 
Environment Agency responded that there were regulations to make 
improvements with a deadline of 2027 and that it was possible only one 
measurable aspect of the river was resulting in its “poor” status rather than 
the whole river being below standard quality.  

  
30.10  Councillor Carter questioned whether the presence of external influences in 

our rivers were resulting in storm spill events during periods of wet weather 

Page 7



 

not being accurately reported. Anglian Water responded that automatic 
verification checks were now taking place to improve the accuracy of storm 
spill devices reporting incidences but that there was always a risk that some 
spills would not be identified.   

  
30.11  Councillor Carter further questioned what tests the Environment Agency carry 

out on a river when a storm spill has been recorded. The Environment 
Agency responded that the tests carried out are based on information 
provided by Anglian Water and that investigations into the causes of storm 
spills are carried out dependant on frequency and risk. 

  
30.12  Councillor Carruthers queried the government ban on wet wipes by 2024 and 

what could be done to educate the public on materials that should not be put 
into the sewage system via domestic properties. Anglian Water responded 
that there were consultations to ban the plastics in wet wipes and that these 
should be disposed of in bins rather than flushed. Anglian Water further 
responded that they were running a “Keep It Clear” communications 
campaign to remove “unflushables” from the sewage system.  

  
30.13  Councillor Smith questioned if the Sudbury Water Recycling Centre had 

phosphorous removal equipment installed. Anglian Water responded that 
there were plans to install this equipment and that this would be concluded by 
2024. 

  
30.14  Councillor Smith further questioned what tests would be conducted in the 

rivers should a bathing water status application be granted. The Environment 
Agency responded that if an application is granted then the area will go into a 
monitoring programme, where the water will be tested regularly for 
pathogens, and that improvement measures could be made to the quality of 
the water once it has received a classification from the government.  

  
30.15  Councillor Whyman queried how the Environment Agency could control water 

run-off from farms, particularly open pig farms, that were connected to the 
river system. The Environment Agency responded that there were several 
pieces of legislation that granted the organisation powers to bring pig farms 
into compliance with nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ) regulations and that there 
was a team dedicated to such pollution incidents. Natural England responded 
that they were able to get involved with enforcing regulations if the pollution 
was affecting protected sites. 

 
30.16 Councillor McLaren questioned if there were any discussions with 

pharmaceutical companies concerning how certain drugs getting into the 
sewage system may affect water quality. The Environment Agency responded 
that some collaboration was taking place with DEFRA regarding certain 
chemicals and their impact on the river system.  

  
30.17  Councillor Carter questioned what triggers Anglian Water to invest in new 

infrastructure when significant housing developments are built in the 
catchment of water treatment works. Anglian Water responded that 
investment is made if the water treatment plant does not have sufficient 

Page 8



 

capacity to deal with the increased load. 
  
30.18  Councillor Carter further questioned if Anglian Water were paying more 

money out in dividends to shareholders than what was invested into new or 
improved infrastructure. Anglian Water responded that this was not the case 
and that a breakdown of figures was provided annually via a public report. 

  
A short break was taken between 11:52am and 12:10pm. 
  
30.19  Councillor Matthissen questioned what position the Councils were in 

regarding the collection of evidence concerning new housing developments 
and their cumulative impact on the sewage system as part of the new Joint 
Local Plan. The Director of Planning responded that some evidence gathering 
for part two of the Joint Local Plan was underway but that this did not relate to 
the issues detailed currently. 

  
30.20  Councillor Matthissen further questioned if point four of the original motion – 

to request that planning officers include in major development reports a 
section on the specific impact of that development on watercourses – was 
being carried out. The Strategic Projects and Delivery Manager responded 
that this was the case and that the consultation response template for Anglian 
Water had been modified to pick up these extra details. 

  
30.21  Councillor Carter questioned if the Councils tested to make sure that the data 

they receive as part of a consultation response is accurate. The Strategic 
Projects and Delivery Manager responded that this was not within the 
capabilities of planning officers but that responses from other consultees, 
such as the Lead Local Flood Authority, allow for cross-referencing and 
checking.  

  
30.22  Members debated the item on the following issues: 
  

       Anglian Water’s current capacity to deal with overflows 
       The cumulative impact of future housing developments 
       The lack of public warnings about the quality of rivers 
       The limitations of consultee responses as part of the planning process 
       A lack of response from OFWAT as requested in the original motion 
       The current and proposed phosphate reduction programmes 
       Citizen science projects to obtain more information and data on the quality 

of the water in our rivers 
       More training for Councillors on how to support catchment sensitive 

farming 
  
30.23  The Lead Officer for Overview and Scrutiny put forward the following 

recommendations based on the questions and debate from Members: 
  

       That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee thanks Anglian Water, 
the Environment Agency, Natural England, and the River Stour Trust for 

Page 9



 

their attendance and for the answers provided. 

       That the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny provide a report and verbal 
update on the contents and outcomes of the Committee meeting at the 
next Full Council meetings in October.  

       That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for more 
information from the external representatives, specifically including the 
phosphate reducing programme, and asks that this be fed back to the 
Committee via an Information Bulletin.  

       That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for a wider 
publicity campaign for residents, staff, and Councillors regarding materials 
that cannot be put into the sewage system.  

       That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for Cabinet to 
investigate the possibility of running a campaign regarding the provision of 
water butts for residents. 

       That Mid Suffolk District Council receives an update on their concerns 
over water quality in the District from OFWAT. 

  
30.24  Councillor Matthissen proposed the recommendations as read out by the 

Lead Officer and made an additional recommendation: 
  

       That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for Council to 
consider supporting “citizen science” projects 

  
30.25  Councillor Smith seconded the proposal. 
  
By a unanimous vote 
  
It was RESOLVED: 
  
1.1.         That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee thanks Anglian Water, 

the Environment Agency, Natural England, and the River Stour Trust for 
their attendance and for the answers provided. 

1.2.        That the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny provide a report and verbal 
update on the contents and outcomes of the Committee meeting at the 
next Full Council meetings in October.  

1.3.        That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for more 
information from the external representatives, specifically including the 
phosphate reducing programme, and asks that this be fed back to the 
Committee via an Information Bulletin.  

1.4.        That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for a wider 
publicity campaign for residents, staff, and Councillors regarding 
materials that cannot be put into the sewage system.  

1.5.        That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for Cabinet to 

Page 10



 

investigate the possibility of running a campaign regarding the 
provision of water butts for residents. 

1.6.        That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for Council to 
consider supporting “citizen science” projects.  

1.7.        That Mid Suffolk District Council receives an update on their concerns 
over water quality in the District from OFWAT. 

 
 
31 JOS/23/16 FORTHCOMING DECISIONS LIST 

 
 31.1    The Forthcoming Decision List was noted. 

   
32 JOS/23/17 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTION TRACKER 

 
 32.1    The Overview and Scrutiny Action Tracker was noted. 

   
33 JOS/23/18 BABERGH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 

 
 33.1   Councillor Riley questioned when the proposed items from the August 

committee - an update on Corks Lane and an item concerning staffing, agile 
working, and productivity – would be timetabled on the work plan. 

  
33.2   The Lead Officer for Overview and Scrutiny responded that initial 

conversations regarding these items had been held with the Chairs and that 
the items would be timetabled after further conversations about how these 
items would be brought to committee had been held.  

  
33.3    The Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan was noted. 
   

34 JOS/23/19 MID SUFFOLK OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 
 

 34.1    The Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committee was noted. 
 

 
The business of the meeting was concluded at 13:11pm. 
 
 

…………………………………….. 
Chair 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL and MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

TO:  Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

REPORT NUMBER: JOS/23/21 

FROM: Cllr. Jessie Carter - Cabinet 
Member for Housing and 
Cllr. Richard Winch – 
Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property 

DATE OF MEETING:  23 Oct 2023 

OFFICER: Rebecca Ward, Housing 
Strategy and Policy Officer 
and David White, Housing 
Transformation Manager 

KEY DECISION REF NO. Item No. 

 
ANNUAL REVIEW UPDATE OF THE JOINT HOMES AND HOUSING STRATEGY 
  
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils’ housing vision is for residents to live in 
affordable and high-quality homes that enable them to build settled, safe and healthy 
lives, within sustainable and thriving communities. 

1.2 The Councils’ Joint Homes and Housing Strategy was originally developed to focus 
on the five-year period from 2019 to 2024 and set out the strategic aims we wished 
to deliver.   

1.3 A refresh and refocus exercise was undertaken in 2022 to ensure that the Strategy 
and Delivery Plan included all the new policy priorities that had emerged since 2019; 
such as the Councils’ decision to acknowledge the climate emergency and commit to 
supporting efforts to create a zero-carbon Suffolk by 2030. Additionally, the Covid-19 
pandemic had contributed to socio-economic changes and emerging policy 
considerations with more focus on health and wellbeing.   

1.4 The Strategy commits us to being truthful and transparent, providing information on 
how we are performing against our Delivery Plan. Therefore, as part of adopting the 
strategy, a commitment was made to report back to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for annual reviews and updates to Cabinet Members. 

1.5 In previous years the annual review of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy has 
included a review of the Joint Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy. However, the Joint Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
is a Statutory document and a new version is currently being developed and this is 
taking a different journey to adoption and publication in 2023/24. Therefore, this will 
not be included in this year’s review of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy 

1.6 This paper sets out progress made in delivering the Joint Homes and Housing 
Strategy to enable Members to scrutinise the work undertaken by the Councils. 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



2. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 While alternative options for the strategy review and updates to Cabinet Members 
have been considered, such as twice-yearly reviews, it was identified that annual 
reviews are the most viable approach. 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 That Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the contents of this report including 
the appendices, provide scrutiny and, where appropriate, provide comment. 

3.2 That Overview and Scrutiny Committee support the strategic aims of the Homes and 
Housing Strategy ensuring the delivery plan is reflective of the current challenges 
facing the housing sector, whilst continuing to deliver the aims set out in the Homes 
and Housing Strategy. 

REASON FOR DECISION 

          To inspect closely and thoroughly the progress made towards the delivery of the Joint 
Homes and Housing Strategy with the ambition to improve performance in the 
delivery of the Councils’ housing vision and strategic aims and to ensure that the 
Joint Homes and Housing Strategy continues to strive towards the strategic aims 
and vision whilst operating in a changing policy and legislative landscape. 

 
4. KEY INFORMATION 

4.1 The Joint Homes and Housing Strategy sets out a vision for Babergh and Mid Suffolk, 
(stated above at 1.1). To achieve this vision, nine strategic aims were developed to 
underpin delivery and set out key priorities:  

• The housing market functions effectively, providing homes which are as affordable 
as possible; to meet the needs of residents and support the local economy.  

• There is a wide and varied choice of good quality, sustainable homes of different 
sizes, types, and tenures, to meet the needs of a wide range of different 
households.  

• Homelessness is prevented and our services provide positive and planned 
interventions.  

• Babergh and Mid Suffolk Councils are an effective social landlord known for 
delivering quality services. 

• Homes are in high quality sustainable environments, served by jobs and 
community facilities, appropriate green space, effective transport links and other 
necessary infrastructure. 

• Best use is made of private sector land and private accommodation across the 
districts. 

• People live in vibrant and well-connected communities; and homes and 
communities continue to meet the changing needs of residents. 

Page 14



• Everyone has a suitable home, and residents are able to live as healthily, safely, 
independently as possible within sustainable communities. 

• Both Councils have a strong relationship with residents, developers and other 
partners that enable us to deliver housing, infrastructure, and services effectively 
and to innovate where appropriate. 

4.2 The successful delivery of the Strategy was initially reliant on 122 actions which were 
endorsed by both Councils in 2019. In consultation with Cabinet Members, the 
Director for Housing has the authority to make minor amendments or updates to the 
Strategy and action plan as appropriate. 

4.3 During 2020, the 122 actions were revised to both merge overlapping actions and 
frame actions into a SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant and Time-
based) format, with the aim to make the action plan more deliverable. While 
maintaining the same priorities and original objectives of the Strategy, the number of 
individual actions was reduced to 93. 

4.4 In April 2021, the Corporate Manager for Housing Solutions presented and formally 
consulted on these changes with the Cabinet Members for Housing, in agreement 
with the Director for Housing to officially agree the changes under the delegated 
powers of the Director for Housing and Cabinet Members for Housing.   

4.5 In August 2021 Cabinet Members and Housing Staff were briefed on the proposal to 
relaunch the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2022. It was proposed that the 
Housing Vision set out in the original strategy would remain to aid consistency and 
the Delivery plan would be streamlined to focus on the activities which contribute to 
more measurable outcomes from the nine strategic aims. 

4.6 Following direction from SLT the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy document was 
refreshed in 2022. The original vision and strategic aims remained relevant and still 
reflected the ambition of the Councils and so these were not changed. The time frame 
(2019-2024) was removed and replaced with a date published. This was to better 
reflect that the strategy is an evolving document rather than with a fixed start and end 
point. 

4.7 All references and supporting documents referenced within the Strategy were 
updated in 2022 to ensure that only the most current supplementary information was 
referenced. All data quoted was updated (where more recent data was available), to 
ensure that the strategy was underpinned by the most relevant and current supporting 
data. 

4.8 The Joint Homes and Housing Strategy Delivery Plan was refocused in 2022 to 
capture new and emerging themes that were not part of the policy and legislative 
landscape when the original delivery plan was authored in 2019. 

4.9 The refocusing of the Delivery Plan in 2022 resulted in reducing the number of overall 
actions from 93 to 62. 52 actions were completed or had become ‘business as usual.’  

 

 

 

Page 15



4.10 SUMMARY OF PROGRESS: 2020 – 2022 

Original 
Delivery Plan 

June  

2020 

June  

2021 

September  

2022 

REFOCUS 

2022 

Actions Archived 1 12 52  

Actions In 
Progress 

52 69 35 Moved to new 
Delivery Plan 

Actions In 
Progress with 
minor delays/ 

Yet to 
Commence 

 

40 

 

12 

 

6 

 

Moved to new 
Delivery Plan 

TOTAL 
ACTIONS 

93 93 93  

 

4.11 In July 2023 a comprehensive review of the Delivery Plan was undertaken by 
Officers. The Director for Housing, Housing Corporate Managers and Action Owners 
collaboratively reviewed the document to ensure that business as usual actions were 
archived and actions added to reflect current projects and ambitions more accurately.  

4.12 SUMMARY OF PROGRESS – 2022-2023 

 October 

2022 

Refocused 
Delivery 

Plan 

January 

2023 

April 

2023 

July 

2023: 

Review & 
Refocus 
Exercise 

October 

2023 

Refocused 
Delivery 

Plan 

Actions 
Archived 

0 7 9 30* 0 

Actions in 
Progress 

37 46 48 29 32 

Actions in 
Progress 
with minor 
delays/ Yet 

to 
Commence 

4 9 5 3 0 

New Actions 21 0 0 0 9 

Page 16



TOTAL 
ACTIONS: 

62 62 62 62 41 

  *Not transferred to the October 2023 Version of the Delivery Plan. 

4.13 Following the comprehensive review of the Delivery Plan a total of 30 actions have 
been archived in the past year from the original total of 62. The reasons for archiving 
are as follows: 

Reason for Archiving:  

Action Completed 8 

Action Superseded 5 

Action has become Business as Usual 15 

Action Amalgamated with another action 2 

TOTAL: 30 

 

4.14 The comprehensive review of the Delivery Plan also included the insertion of new 
actions to better reflect current projects and ambitions. A total of 9 new actions have 
been added to the Delivery Plan. (These are marked in yellow in Appendix B: The 
Joint Homes and Housing Strategy Delivery Plan). 

4.15 An engagement exercise with members is to be planned for the coming year so that 
their views can be fed into the 2024 refocusing of the Joint Homes and Housing 
Strategy Delivery Plan ahead of the annual review by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in October 2024. The form that this engagement will take will be led by 
Cabinet Members for Housing and any feedback from the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee as to their views on how we should proceed with this exercise will also be 
taken into consideration. 

4.16 A comprehensive update, including a high-level description and visual presentation 
of actions completed, actions in progress, actions in progress with minor delays, 
actions yet to commence and new actions added will be presented at the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny meeting. 

5. LINKS TO CORPORATE PLAN 

5.1 Housing is one of the key strategic priorities in the Council’s Corporate plan. Our 
Housing vision and the strategic aims of the Homes and Housing Strategy seek to 
support and compliment other strategies in the corporate plan such as the 
Environment, Economy, Wellbeing and Communities Strategies (each underpinned 
by their own action/delivery plans). 

5.2 All strategies and continued development of associated action/delivery plans are 
managed through Programme Boards which have now been established around 
each Strategy. 

 

Page 17



6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

There are no financial implications arising from the scrutiny of the Homes and 
Housing Strategy, other than ongoing nominal costs arising from the delivery of the 
Strategy. This is considered individually as part of any business case but is normally 
within existing budget provision. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 It is not a statutory requirement to publish a housing strategy and there are no legal 
implications of producing and implementing the Homes and Housing Strategy, 
although some actions carried out under the Strategy relate to statutory duties of the 
councils. In these instances, statutory outcomes are considered through 
implementation of that task. 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT 

8.1 Key risks are set out below: 

Key Risk 
Description 

Likelihood 

1-4 

Impact 

1-4 

Key Mitigation Measures Risk Register and 
Reference* 

Poor 
stakeholder 
relationships 
caused by lack 
of 
communication 
and 
transparent 
stakeholder 
engagement. 

1 – 
Highly 
Unlikely 

3 - Bad Strong engagement 
with partners through 
engagement activities 
such as workshops. 

Affordable 
Housing 
Delivery 
Programme 
Risk Register 
Number 09. 

Lack of 
supportive 
external 
partnerships 
would prevent 
delivery of 
some specific 
actions. 

2 - 
Unlikely 

4 - 
Disaster 

Work collectively with 
Suffolk Programme 
Boards, to support the 
effective delivery of 
services in relation to 
Housing. 

Housing 
Transformation, 
Systems and 
Support Risk 
Register 025. 

Major changes 
in state of UK 
property and 
development 
markets may 
slow delivery of 
affordable 
housing. 

3 - Likely 4 - 
Disaster 

Impact evaluation and 
ongoing market 
research to estimate 
the likelihood of 
changes impacting 
local housing delivery. 
Develop alternative 
plans to deal with 
potential housing 

Affordable 
Housing 
Delivery 
Programme 
Risk Register 
Number 010 

Page 18



delivery and viability 
issues. 

Not having up 
to date policies 
in the 
Development 
plan resulting 
in unplanned/ 
inappropriate 
development 
and not 
meeting 
objectively 
identified 
needs. 

3 - Likely 3 - Bad Adopt a Joint Local 
Plan to provide clear 
up-to date policies 
and direction to all 
involved with 
development, to meet 
objectively assessed 
needs. 

Strategic 
Planning Risk 
Register 
Number 02. 

Not having an 
up-to-date 
Affordable 
Housing 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document to 
detail the 
circumstances 
in which the 
Councils would 
take flexible 
approach to 
tenure mix to 
maximise 
delivery. 

2 -
Unlikely 

3 - Bad Adopt a Joint Local 
Plan and be clear on 
the purpose and 
content of the 
Affordable Housing 
SPD prior to 
consultation and 
subsequent adoption. 

Strategic 
Planning Risk 
Register 
Number 07. 

*Name of risk register where risk is currently documented and being actively managed and it’s reference number  

 
9. CONSULTATIONS 

9.1 The first consultation occurred through stakeholder engagement during the 
development of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy 2019-2024. This included 
Cabinet Members for Housing, the Councils’ Leaders, developers, land agents, 
estate agents and key local people involved in housing delivery. 

9.2 In addition, in 2021, officers and members worked on a ‘stocktake exercise’ and 
attended a series of workshops to investigate and estimate issues affecting our 
services, to identify areas of work requiring enhanced focus and to explore what the 
council’s goals were in the long term. The outcome of this exercise fed into the 
refocus of the Delivery Plan in October 2022. 

9.3 In July 2023 a comprehensive review of the Delivery Plan was undertaken by 
Officers. The Director for Housing, Housing Corporate Managers and Action Owners 
collaboratively reviewed the document to ensure that business as usual actions were 
archived and new actions were added to reflect current projects and ambitions more 
accurately. 

Page 19



9.4 Further engagement with members is planned for 2024 to feed into the 2024 
refocusing of the Delivery Plan. (See 4.15) 

10. EQUALITY ANALYSIS 

10.1 AN EIA was developed as part of the creation of the Joint Homes and Housing 
Strategy and was considered by both councils prior to adoption. 

10.2 There is no requirement to complete a new EIA for the purpose of this report. 

10.3 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required. 

11. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are no environmental implications from carrying out the review of the Joint 
Homes and Housing Strategy, 

11.2 Within the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy Delivery Plan there are 8 actions that 
will have a positive impact on the environment. They are:  

4.5. Determine the feasibility and cost of a range of retrofit energy efficiency 
measures in line with PAS2035, to improve environmental performance, 
reduce operating costs and/or enhance the customer experience and 
support vulnerable tenants. 

4.6. Babergh Mid Suffolk Building Services to undergo a full diagnostic 
assessment leading to transformation of the service, to ensure that 
Building Services is in an optimised position to meet the requirements of 
the Building Safety Act and to contribute to meeting Climate Emergency 
objectives. 

5.2. Establish a collaborative plan, that considers viability, capacity and 
expertise, to investigate installing electric vehicle charging points to serve 
existing council houses 

5.3. Prepare for ‘Biodiversity offsetting’ when Biodiversity net gain becomes 
compulsory in 2023; by identifying sites and pursuing opportunities for 
securing net gains, in areas that maximise the benefits provided. 

5.4. Utilise the Housing Revenue Account’s capital environmental 
improvement budget and other associated funding, through the Greater 
Places, Better Spaces initiative. Prioritising measures which support the 
health and wellbeing of our residents, encourage social interaction, 
empower tenants, residents and communities and other partners, and 
positively impact on reducing carbon emissions. 

6.3 Review the current system of Grants to Private Landlords to maximise 
opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of residents and the 
energy efficiency of homes. 

8.1. Implement a programme of upgrades to heating systems in council stock, 
replacing oil systems wherever possible and prioritising heat pumps 
where appropriate. 

Page 20



8.3. Take forward measures to improve the environmental performance of our 
housing stock, in order to reduce carbon emissions, meet national targets 
for all social homes to be EPC rating of C or above by 2030 and to 
contribute to corporate and countywide climate emergency objectives. 

 

12. APPENDICES  

Title Location 

(a) Joint Homes and Housing 
Strategy (Version – October 
2022) 

Attached 

 

(b) Joint Homes and Housing 
Strategy Delivery Plan 
(Version – October 2023) 

Attached 

 

13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

13.1 None 

14. REPORT AUTHORS 

Rebecca Ward, Housing Strategy and Policy Officer 

rebecca.ward@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 

01473 724775 

 

Page 21

mailto:rebecca.ward@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



JOINT HOMES AND 
HOUSING STRATEGY

October 2022

Babergh & Mid Suffolk
District Councils 

Page 23



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 20222

Refresh: October 2022 
Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils have produced their joint Homes and 
Housing strategy to provide focus and show their ongoing commitment to meet and 
address the housing challenges across the districts. 

The 2019-2024 Joint Homes and Housing Strategy and the accompanying Delivery 
Plan were adopted in March 2019. They set out how the Councils would meet the 
changing needs of residents across both districts over the next 25 years with our 
partners and key housing stakeholders. The Strategy was published alongside the 
Babergh and Mid Suffolk Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019 
- 2024. 

Much has changed locally, nationally and globally since 2019; the Covid-19 pandemic 
has disrupted society and the economy; a climate emergency has been declared by 
both Councils, there is an emerging cost-of-living crisis and new government social 
housing policies introduced. 

To reflect these changes, The JOINT HOMES AND HOUSING STRATEGY has been 
refreshed and the Delivery Plan has been refocused to ensure that both documents 
remain relevant and to address new and emerging housing challenges.

The Joint Homes and Housing Strategy and the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy documents detail the Councils’ commitment to working pro-actively and 
collaboratively with public and voluntary sector organisations, to better equip 
residents to make more informed choices about their housing, to help them live 
better-quality lives into older age and remain independent for longer.

In working towards achieving our housing vision and strategic priorities we will 
continue to:

•	 Work in partnership to maximise resources

•	 Deliver efficient and effective services, and operate within our means

•	 Target scarce resources to those who are most in need

•	 Prioritise the protection of essential services

•	 Seek out opportunities to influence government policy to meet our rural districts’ 
housing needs

•	 Collate the right sort of evidence to ensure we put in sound bids for all new 
funding sources related to housing as they become available.

Page 24



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 3

The Homes and Housing Strategy has links to the Council’s Well-being Strategy and 
the Council’s Communities Strategy and Housing is a strategic priority within Babergh 
and Mid Suffolk District Council’s Corporate Plan (2019-27):

Page 25

https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/communities/health-and-wellbeing/
C:\Users\wardr2\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\HRJF3WD5\The Homes and Housing Strategy has links to the Council’s Wellbeing Strategy and the Council’s Communities Strategy


Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 20224

Introduction 
We all need and deserve somewhere to live and call home. Having a place to call 
our own provides belonging, contributes to positive health and well-being, and 
strengthens community spirit.

Our housing vision is for residents to live in affordable and high-quality homes that 
enable them to build settled, safe and healthy lives, within sustainable and thriving 
communities.

As we all enjoy longer lives, our local population is projected to increase by almost 
24,000 by 2043 ; so, ensuring we have enough homes of the right type and in the right 
place is important. Our strategy therefore focuses on ways to improve the quality, 
choice and supply of homes for current and future households.

Our strategy is underpinned by four principles:

•	 We will work with anyone that wants to develop and deliver the right homes, in 
the right place at the right time to provide much needed new homes; making 
more effective use of existing homes; and developing innovative solutions to the 
housing needs of our residents and communities.

•	 We will create a new relationship with residents which is based around their need 
and experience, rather than the processes of individual agencies. We will empower 
residents with more choice.

•	 We will adopt a ‘one public sector’ approach, working together in a more linked up 
way with our public sector partners to deliver better, more effective and efficient 
services.

•	 We are committed to being open and transparent, providing frequent information 
as to how we are performing against the plans. This will ensure residents have the 
information at their fingertips to engage with us and ensure we deliver on our 
priorities.

The details of why, how and what we will do to make this a reality is explained in this 
document and the comprehensive Delivery Plan. We invite you to support this vision 
by working with us.

Page 26



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 5

Background 
Babergh and Mid Suffolk Districts are predominantly rural areas comprising 
approximately 200 parishes, each one a local community with a unique identity and 
network of connections to each other.

Across the districts there are many outstanding natural and built environments 
providing places and spaces which offer an excellent work and life balance –for 
residents, commuters, visitors, small business start-ups, entrepreneurs or large multi-
national companies. 

There is something on offer for everyone with a diverse range of cultural heritage, 
unique retail outlets in popular villages, restaurants, museums, theatres, festivals, 
attractions and activities appealing to all age groups – set against a backdrop of 
inspirational scenery, scattered with churches and archaeological monuments.

The market towns of Sudbury (60 miles northeast of London) in Babergh and 
Stowmarket in Mid Suffolk are the largest centres of population in the districts. 
Connections to the Midlands and London are excellent with rail travel to London just 
over 90 minutes from the northernmost boundary of Mid Suffolk.

A significant percentage of our populations are aged 65 years or above and it 
is predicted that this age group will account for 1 in 3 people living in Suffolk, 
compared to 1 in 4 in England over the next 20 years.  As a population ages there 
will be increasing and different demands on services and facilities, especially housing, 
transport, medical care, and social care services.

Across both districts, house prices are around 10 to 11 times  above the average 
earnings of residents, making rural parts of the districts unaffordable for many to buy, 
especially younger and first-time households. This means an increase in demand for 
affordable housing options and private rented accommodation.

Both Babergh and Mid Suffolk are classified as predominantly rural areas. Although 
deprivation levels are low compared with national levels, across Suffolk 28% of those 
identified as income deprived live in rural areas.  Living in a very rural area is widely 
considered to cost households on average about 20% more than a similar household 
living in an urban area. 

This Strategy, alongside our Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy, 
sets out how the changing housing needs of residents across both districts will 
be met by the Councils, our partners, and key housing stakeholders to ensure our 
communities continue to thrive.

Page 27



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 20226

Who is our homes and housing 
strategy for? 
Our Residents and Communities:
We will continue to facilitate opportunities for a mix of new homes which local people 
can afford, additionally support people with identified specific needs and actively 
support community representatives wanting to help residents create sustainable, 
thriving places to live.

Ourselves:
To make sure housing makes a significant contribution in the ambitions and delivery 
of the Joint Local Plan, addressing housing need and protecting and enhancing 
‘quality of place’ whilst continually adjusting to becoming more financially self-
sufficient district councils.

Our Partners
Both Councils are determined to show the sort of leadership required to encourage 
the delivery of new homes of the right type and tenure, in the right places and at 
a price that people can afford. We intend to make the most of every opportunity 
available to work with our partners and stakeholders in seeking new and imaginative 
ways to do just this.

Page 28



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 7

Vision 
Our vision is for residents to live in 
affordable, high-quality homes that 
enable them to build settled, safe 
and healthy lives, within sustainable 
and thriving communities.

Page 29



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 20228

Strategic Aims 
There are nine strategic aims that underpin delivery of our housing vision:

1 The housing market functions 
effectively, providing homes 
which are as 	affordable as 
possible; to meet the needs 
of residents and support the 
local economy.

2 There is a wide and varied 
choice of good quality, 
sustainable homes of different 
sizes, types and tenures, to 
meet the needs of a wide range 
of different households.

3 Homelessness 
is prevented 
and our services 
provide positive 
and planned 		
interventions.

4 Babergh and 
Mid Suffolk is an 
effective social 
landlord known for 
delivering quality 
services.

5 Homes are in high quality, 
sustainable environments, served 
by jobs and community facilities, 
appropriate green spaces, effective 
transport links and other necessary 
infrastructure.

6 Best use is made 
of private sector 
land and private 
accommodation across 
the Districts.

7 People live in vibrant 
and well-connected 
communities; and homes 
and communities continue 
to meet the changing needs 
of residents.

8 Everyone has a suitable home, 
and residents are able to 
live as healthily, safely and 
independently as possible within 
sustainable communities.

9 Both councils have strong relationships with residents, developers and 
other partners that enable us to deliver housing, infrastructure and 
services effectively, and to innovate where appropriate.

Page 30



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 9

National and Local Context 
Much of the way in which housing services are delivered is governed by legislation 
and national or local policies. More details can be found in Appendix 2: National 
Context and Appendix 3: Local Context.  Significant key events also affect delivery and 
provide challenges as well as opportunities. The following have, and will continue to 
have, a major impact on Housing and Housing Services:

Covid-19 Pandemic

The Covid-19 Pandemic is a global event on an unprecedented scale. It has impacted 
on all areas of life in the UK and its consequences continue to be felt. From a housing 
perspective it has had ramifications for all aspects of housing and the long-term 
effects of this are still to be fully understood. The response to the pandemic led to 
societal changes and changes in government policy. For example, but not limited to:

•	 The ‘Everyone In’ campaign saw everyone rough sleeping or at risk of rough 		
	 sleeping being offered temporary accommodation

•	 The ban on evictions and court proceedings gave some temporary peace of mind 	
	 to those experiencing financial hardship as a result of redundancy and furlough

•	 The stamp duty holiday saw an increase in the number of people looking to move 	
	 house

•	  House prices and rents increased

•	 Disrepair issues were heightened as property visits were banned for periods of 	
	 time

•	 Overcrowding and high-density housing were associated with greater spread of 	
	 COVID-19, 

The long-term effects and the length of recovery from the impacts of the pandemic 
are still yet to be fully realised. Actions to support the next steps post-Covid 19 are 
woven into the Homes and Housing Strategy Delivery Plan (Appendix 1). It is vital that 
all aspects of housing continue to be alert to respond to the ongoing challenges and 
opportunities of Covid-19 recovery.

Page 31



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202210

Climate Emergency

Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils declared a Climate Emergency in 2019; An 
Environment and Climate Change Task Force has since been established to address 
the climate challenge the districts face. 

We have been given a target of 2030 to meet the Government’s Clean Growth 
Strategy, which sets an ambition to upgrade all Social Housing to an energy 
performance rating of at least C. 

The Government has also set a target for all new homes to be “net zero” in relation 
to carbon emissions by 2030. Actions to support the Carbon Neutral ambitions of 
Babergh Mid Suffolk District Councils are woven into the Homes and Housing Strategy 
Delivery Plan (Appendix 1).

Cost of Living Crisis

A wide variety of factors, including the war in Ukraine, market volatility, costs 
associated with supply chains and inflation rates, have converged and resulted in a 
cost-of-living crisis in the UK.  

Predictions from a range of think tanks, including the Office for National Statistics, is 
that living standards will significantly fall and the Bank of England has warned that 
inflation could rise to more than 13% and the country could enter a recession. This 
will impact on some people and communities more than others and many households 
face stark financial challenges with increasing food and energy bills.

Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils have recently approved a five-point action 
plan to support residents through the cost-of-living crisis. The Cost of Living Crisis 
Action Plan brings together a suite of measures that focus on providing advice and 
support, maintaining people’s health and building on work already underway since the 
launch of the Councils’ Communities and Well-being strategies.

The Cost-of-Living Crisis Action plan will be regularly reviewed (initial refresh 
scheduled for Autumn 2022 in preparedness to tackle winter pressures) as there are 
many unknowns and potential challenges ahead that cannot be fully predicted at the 
present time given the global challenges, market volatility, rising inflation and the 
everyday changing landscape regarding people’s household budgets. 

Page 32

https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/benefits/cost-of-living-support/
https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/benefits/cost-of-living-support/


Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 11

Strategic Aim 1: 
The housing market functions effectively providing homes which are as 
affordable as possible; to meet the needs of residents and support the local 
economy

•	 We will create the conditions for effective planning and development 

•	 We will increase new housing delivery

Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Published robust viability testing of the Joint Local Plan which gives 				  
	 confidence that both infrastructure and affordable housing needs could be 			 
	 met 
•	 Improved our approach to discharging planning conditions, by providing 			 
	 additional clarity on the information we require from developers in order to 			 
	 discharge conditions effectively  
•	 Implemented a smarter and improved pre-application process. 
•	 Encouraged and supported self-build and custom- build developers by setting 			
	 out positive policies in the Joint Local Plan  

We continue to: 
•	 Engage with developers and registered providers and keep housing evidence 		
	 up to date, in order to ensure that new supply meets housing needs 
•	 Maximise delivery of affordable housing, via planning obligations on all 		
	 qualifying sites, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 		
	 (NPPF) and local policy 
•	 Ensure that planning applications are determined on time and section 106 		
	 agreements are signed off promptly 
•	 Review stalled sites to ensure blockages and delays to development are 		
	 resolved. 
•	 Develop new open market homes through Council owned housing companies 
•	 Develop new affordable homes through the Housing Revenue Account 

We aim to: 
•	 Produce a Joint Local Plan to provide clear policy and direction for new development, 		
	 with site allocations that are deliverable, supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

•	 Publish a new Joint Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document to provide 	
	 detailed information about the type of affordable homes we want to see delivered. 

•	 Build/ acquire 65 new homes in each district per year for each of the next 6 years.

Page 33



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202212

The Government produced its Housing White Paper in February 2017, ‘Fixing our 
Broken Housing Market’. This identified that housing is increasingly unaffordable 
with difficulties for those trying to get onto the housing ladder, especially younger 
households. In addition, it acknowledged that Planning Authorities had issued more 
planning permissions for new homes but that delivery of these homes through 
“spades in the ground” was generally slow. 

Since this time, the level of housing development has improved in both Districts, with 
the Councils’ Joint Annual Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) 2020 – 2021 noting 
housing completions for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 being 402 
dwellings in Babergh against an annual target of 403 dwellings, and 672 dwellings in 
Mid Suffolk against an annual target of 513 dwellings. The annual target is set by a 
national standard methodology.

The AMR also noted that as at 1st April 2021, there was 4,928 dwellings with an 
outstanding planning permission in Babergh and 7,444 dwellings in Mid Suffolk. Not 
all of these dwellings will come forward in the following five years, but the Councils’ 
housing land supply position statements for 2021 identified that Babergh could 
demonstrate a 6.86-year supply against its five-year requirement, and Mid Suffolk 
could demonstrate a 9.54-year supply against its five-year requirement. 

The Government’s annual Housing Delivery Test, which measures housing delivery in a 
local planning authority area, was again passed in both Districts. The Councils however 
continue to maintain a Housing Delivery Test Action Plan.

The Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan is progressing through Examination, 
with the proposal for housing site allocations to be addressed in a Part 2 document. 
Detail of its delivery will be set out in the Councils’ Joint Local Development Scheme. 

Alongside the Joint Local Plan, many areas have adopted or are in the process of 
producing Neighbourhood Plans, which when adopted form part of the Development 
Plan for the Districts, and in some instances identify housing site allocations.

Page 34



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 13

Strategic Aim 2: 
There is a wide and varied choice of good quality, sustainable homes of 
different sizes, types and tenures, to meet the needs of a wide range of different 
households

•	 We will ensure good quality, sustainable homes are built.

•	 We will regularly review housing needs to ensure appropriate provision.

Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Provided advice and encouragement to community-led housing schemes on the 		
	 formation of Community Land Trusts, with the objective of delivering new affordable 		
	 housing 
•	 Published a framework for making investment decisions to increase the overall 		
	 supply of affordable housing, making use of the Housing Revenue Account and working 	
	 collaboratively with housing associations. 

We continue to: 
•	 Enhance the data we hold on our own housing stock, in order to improve our 			 
	 maintenance plans 
•	 Expand the air source heating programme for our own council housing 

We aim to: 
•	 Adopt an Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document to detail the 			
	 circumstances in which we would take a flexible approach to tenure mix to maximise 		
	 delivery 
•	 Make recommendations for future alternative uses for low demand or unsuitable 		
	 garage sites 
•	 Commission research into the contribution which an increased supply of private 		
	 rented accommodation could make to meeting overall housing needs, to inform 		
	 housing enabling and development decisions. 
•	 Work with partners to produce an enhanced affordable housing stock database, to 		
	 support housing enabling and development decisions. 
•	 Review and update our local connection criteria to enable some of the affordable 		
	 homes secured through Section 106 agreements to be prioritised for those with a local 	
	 connection, where appropriate
•	 Ensure efficient use of the Council’s housing stock by creation of a new policy to 		
	 encourage tenants to downsize
 

Page 35



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202214

Both this Homes and Housing Strategy and the Homelessness Reduction & Rough 
Sleeping Strategy recognise the growing numbers of families and single person 
households with a current affordable housing need within the districts. We will 
ensure our limited resources are focussed on where we can have the most impact. By 
understanding the market better, we can see where our interventions could have a 
positive effect and avoid waste, duplication or cost.

The Ipswich and Waveney Area Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017 (with a 
partial update in 2019) indicates a need for at least 110 affordable homes per year in 
Babergh and the requirement for new affordable homes per year across Mid Suffolk is 
at least 127.

Population projections show that the number of people aged 65 or over is expected to 
increase by more than 50% in each District . This is a faster increase than the growth 
of the population as a whole, meaning that older people will form a much larger 
proportion of the total population. We also expect a growing number of households 
to include one or more persons with a disability and more households with people 
living with long-term health conditions.

An ageing population means we must continue to respond to the changing needs 
of older people and those who have specific complex needs. We will achieve this 
through new homes developments and refurbishments to existing homes. When 
planning for new homes we will remain mindful of the increasing proportion of over 
65s living in our most rural settlements and both Councils are actively looking to 
increase the numbers of homes which are better suited to enhancing the health and 
well-being needs of an ageing population on new developments and regeneration or 
refurbishment sites.

These types of homes are also ideally suited to families with young children and other 
groups of people with specific housing needs requiring well designed, easily managed 
and accessible homes.

Places with a mix of housing types, tenures and sizes are better able to meet the 
changing needs and aspirations of residents as they move through different life 
stages, changes of income and changing household numbers.

We are keen to enable greater housing choice in local housing markets as it increases 
the opportunities for households to remain within their communities promoting social 
equity and inclusion by reducing geographical constraints on the search for the ‘right 
house in the right place’.

The affordability of housing has also worsened, both nationally and locally. House 
prices and rent levels have both increased significantly since the Homes and Housing 
Strategy was first adopted, and more recently, increased inflation has reduced the 
amount of income which households have to cover housing costs. 

Page 36



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 15

The Joint Local Plan (JLP) will set out requirements for new residential developments 
by stating they should maintain provision of and contribute to a mix of housing types, 
tenures and sizes to help support the creation of truly sustainable communities. To 
achieve this step change in the housing market the JLP must include building homes 
to meet the needs of an ageing population, and should include smaller properties, 
single storey properties and opportunities for self-build and custom-build. 

Page 37



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202216

Homelessness Facts:  
01/04/2018 - 31/03/2022 Babergh Mid Suffolk
Homeless applications taken 2277 2023

Households accepted as homeless 192 134

Main reasons for homelessness (of those accepted 
as homeless)

Fleeing violence including Domestic Abuse 43 31

Family no longer able to accommodate 39 26

Loss of private-rented accommodation 41 20

Relationship breakdown 26 16

Other 43 41

Reason for Priority-Need (of those accepted as 
homeless)

Dependent children 79 51

Mental health 38 30

Physical ill health or disability 30 17

Fled violence 7 11

Other 38 25

No. of rough sleepers recorded in 2021 ‘count’ 2 1

Cases where homelessness has been prevented 560 508

Cases where homelessness has been relieved 167 170

No. of temporary accommodation units as of 31st 
March 22*

62 44

*Includes domestic abuse satellite refuge units & 
rough sleeper units

Page 38



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 17

Strategic Aim 3: 
Homelessness Is Prevented And Our Services Provide Positive And Planned 
Interventions

•	 We will prevent homelessness and end rough sleeping
Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Developed and implemented a comprehensive online advice service for clients to access 	
	 housing options advice 
•	 Developed a process for offering short term support and ongoing contact to monitor 	
	 the progress of clients and reduce the risk of repeated homelessness from temporary 	
	 accommodation. 
•	 Created a multi-agency panel to manage, monitor and find housing solutions for the 	
	 hardest to house clients 
•	 Rebranded the Rent Deposit Scheme and expanded the Central Suffolk Lettings provision

 
We continue to: 
•	 Audit the Council’s Housing Solutions (Homelessness) Service 
•	 Work with Public Health to support services for vulnerable adults and provide data as 	
	 required 
•	 Work closely and meet with the DWP and CAB to tackle the impacts of welfare reforms 
•	 Monitor repayment agreements and the number of evictions for rent arrears in order 	
	 to consider the success of our budgeting advice and affordability checks, so we can 	
	 help clients to manage their income effectively. 
•	 Support the recommissioning of Housing Related Support Services, in partnership 	with 	
	 other Suffolk authorities. 
•	 Ensure continued workforce training and development on the links between 		
	 homelessness and mental health, drugs and alcohol, PREVENT, gangs, county lines, 	
	 Making Every Contact Count and Domestic Abuse 
•	 Ensure that everyone in temporary accommodation has access to appropriate health 	
	 services  
•	 Ensure that all temporary accommodation is regularly inspected to ensure it meets all 	
	 regulatory standards 
•	 Ensure that we make suitable provision for rough sleepers in extreme weather conditions 	
	 under Severe Weather Emergency Provision 
•	 Ensure contact is made with all rough sleepers within 24 hours of being notified of them 

We aim to: 
•	 Review the current Joint Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 	
	 produce new Joint Strategy and Delivery Plan ready for adoption and publication in 2024. 
•	 Support the objectives of the Cost of Living Crisis Action Plan, as the plan evolves and 	
	 more detail is known. 
•	 Develop a housing forum to ensure better coordination with partners, to identify ways 	
	 of educating partner organisations, and help us to better manage cases on an ongoing 	
	 basis. 
•	 Review the effectiveness of our pathway plans to ensure that they help the most 		
	 vulnerable client groups to access services at an earlier stage 
•	 Create a programme of pre-tenancy assessment and training for new tenants, intended to 	
	 help tenants manage their properties and their own finances. 
•	 Quantify accommodation needs for under-35s, including the private rented sector and 	
	 lodging schemes, and set out an ongoing investment programme 
•	 Review temporary accommodation to ensure there is a sufficient supply to reduce the 	
	 usage of bed and breakfast accommodation   

Page 39



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202218

Strategic Aim 3 of the Homes and Housing Strategy is linked directly to Babergh and 
Mid Suffolk District Council’s Joint Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2019-2024.

The Joint Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy sets out 6 priority 
areas:  

•	 Prevention of Homelessness 

•	 End rough sleeping 

•	 Supporting vulnerable households to secure and maintain accommodation 

•	 Mitigating the impacts of Welfare Reform 

•	 Increasing access to suitable accommodation 

•	 Raise aspirations of positive health and well-being amongst homeless 
people 

These are based on the key priorities set by Elected Members for 2018/19, the 
Councils Joint Strategic Plan 2016-2020 and new duties as prescribed in the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, which was enacted in April 2018.  

The Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy is a statutory document 
and is to be reviewed every five years.  The strategy will be formally reviewed in 
2023/24 and following consultation with all relevant stakeholders and residents, a new 
Strategy and Delivery Plan will be published in 2024. 

Page 40

https://www.babergh.gov.uk/assets/Housing-and-Homelessness/Housing-Strategy/HRRSS-2019-2024-Final.pdf
https://www.babergh.gov.uk/assets/Housing-and-Homelessness/Housing-Strategy/HRRSS-2019-2024-Final.pdf


Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 19

Strategic Aim 4: 
Babergh and Mid Suffolk is an effective social landlord known for delivering 
quality services

•	 We will be an excellent landlord.
•	 We will ensure that all council owned social homes are fit for purpose

Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Included measures to improve the environmental performance of our housing stock 	
	 within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) business plan and capital programme.  
•	 Put in place measures to ensure we learn from every complaint
•	 Put in a place a new approach to managing complaints of anti-social behaviour and 	
	 have put greater emphasis on mediation as a means of resolution. 
•	 Reviewed our approach to managing void/redundant stock and identified measures 	
	 to make better use of such properties. 
•	 Reviewed our housing stock profile and commenced a programme to dispose of 	
	 properties that are expensive and/or low demand. 

We continue to: 
•	 Implement a rolling Tenant Satisfaction Methodology to drive business change.  
•	 Determine the feasibility and cost of a range of ‘Smart Home’ measures, to improve 	
	 environmental performance, support vulnerable tenants, reduce operating costs and 	
	 enhance the customer experience. 
•	 Review internet usage amongst our tenants to understand barriers to usage and 	
	 develop measures to enable and increase internet usage. 

We aim to: 
•	 Co-create, develop and launch a Tenant Engagement Strategy 
•	 Establish compliance with the Social Housing Regulations to ensure that Babergh and 	
	 Mid Suffolk District Councils is a compliant landlord and tenants are able to see how 	
	 we are performing against the standards. 
•	 Bring forward innovative redevelopment opportunities for redundant and under used 	
	 sheltered accommodation.  
•	 Build on the work of the Complaints Task force to learn lessons and continually 	
		  improve 
•	 Refresh the Councils’ Income Strategy to ensure that we are best placed to meet the 	
	 needs of our tenants who are experiencing financial difficulties 
•	 Work with our tenants to continually improve the ways we communicate with them 	
	 about matters affecting their homes and neighbourhoods. 
 

Page 41



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202220

Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils are landlords to 6,885 homes (Babergh 
3,565 and Mid Suffolk 3,320 as at August 2022). The rental income generated by 
these homes is approximately £35.5 million each year. These funds are ringfenced to 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and are dedicated to the management of our 
landlord service, maintenance of council homes and building more council homes. 

The recently approved HRA Business Plan:  sets out the main priorities for the next 	
30 years: 

• 	 Increase the stock of social housing owned by the HRA through an 		
	 ambitious development programme.

• 	 Develop new homes that are built to the highest standard, contributing to 	
	 the Council’s effort to ensure carbon neutrality. 

• 	 Improve the quality of existing homes and communal areas and reduce 		
	 the carbon footprint of existing council homes through investment in assets, 	
	 community led regeneration and working with communities and individuals. 

• 	 Ensure that our homes, and the management of them, maintain and improve 	
	 well-being outcomes for individuals, families and communities alongside 	
	 other Council services and partners. 

We recognise that some residents feel there is a stigma of living in a home provided 
by a social housing landlord and the Charter for Social Housing Residents is trying to 
address this through its chapter on being treated with respect.  We are also planning 
to address the topic of tenant stigma and stereotyping through the delivery plan of 
our Tenant Engagement Strategy. 

It is important that we understand our residents’ aspirations. This will help us to 
evaluate how we currently deliver services, and then tailor our services in the future to 
ensure our residents have the best opportunities to meet and exceed their aspirations. 

Page 42

https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s27695/Babergh HRA Business Plan with Financial Update and appendices 20th June 2022.pdf


Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 21

We will take meaningful steps to break down inequalities in social housing. Supporting 
residents to meet their aspirations also has a business benefit. When residents are 
supported to fulfil their ambitions, they will be more likely to sustain their tenancies.  
This reduces demand on our landlord services through supporting self-service and 
reductions in demand management, for example, managing residents rent accounts. 

Everyone deserves a good quality home, from young families to retired people and 
those who struggle to find affordable suitable homes in the current market. A home 
is the foundation of everything, so providing the very best homes for tenants is a role 
we take seriously. In the longer term and with continuing support some residents may 
find themselves in a position where they feel ready and able to move on from social 
housing, vacating their home for another social housing tenant. 

As a business with a social mission, we aim to enhance, rather than hinder our 
residents’ ability to fulfil their aspirations and are committed to supporting tenants to 
take their first step to home ownership.

Page 43



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202222

Strategic Aim 5: 
Homes are in high quality sustainable environments, served by jobs and 
community facilities, appropriate green space, effective transport links and other 
necessary infrastructure

•	 We will ensure Infrastructure exceeds expectations

Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Ensured our Homes and Housing Strategy is aligned to our Economic and 	
	 Communities Strategies and complements our commitment to stimulate 	
	 housing led growth and economic prosperity
•	 Reviewed the Community Infrastructure (CIL) Expenditure Framework
•	 Developed an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and reviewed it in 2020, which 	
	 accurately assessed the future infrastructure needs across all our communities
•	 Delivered two separate Infrastructure Funding Statements for both Councils 	
	 (2019/20 and 2020/21) which detail the infrastructure projects that CIL will be 	
	 spent on in each District. 

We continue to: 
•	 Work in partnership with local people, communities and other partners on 	
	 environmental improvements to neighbourhoods.
•	 Review our Community Infrastructure Levy Charging rates
•	 Ensure delivery of sufficient infrastructure to meet requirements arising from 	
	 new developments
•	 Investigate the viability of installing electric vehicle points on our housing 	
	 estates and the development of sustainable transport solutions to meet the 	
	 needs of our residents
•	 Support the development, with partners, of the Suffolk Design approach 

We aim to: 
•	 Produce a Joint Local Plan to provide clear policy and direction to all involved with 	
	 site allocations that are deliverable, supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
•	 Prepare for ‘Biodiversity offsetting’ when Biodiversity net gain becomes 		
	 compulsory in 2023;

Page 44



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 23

We want homes to be in high quality environments that meet our residents needs and 
aspirations. However, we recognise the need to ensure we or other key stakeholders 
can provide the necessary infrastructure at the most appropriate time to ensure critical 
services and infrastructure do not become either oversubscribed or under provided 
for particularly where growth is occurring.

It’s no secret that we face a housing shortage, both across the whole country and 
in Babergh and Mid Suffolk. But even as we meet that challenge, we have to ensure 
that our infrastructure keeps pace therefore we will ensure that the mechanism for 
supporting infrastructure is refreshed and updated to ensure it meets the needs of our 
communities and stakeholders.

The Councils fully appreciate that the delivery of new homes and jobs needs to be 
supported by suitable infrastructure, including a wide range of transport options, 
utilities, and community facilities. Indeed, enabling the provision of the necessary 
infrastructure to support residents, businesses, communities, the environment and 
individuals and prioritising investment into strategic services and infrastructure are key 
objectives of the Councils. 

Without appropriate infrastructure, the growth would be regarded as unsustainable. 
As such, the Babergh and Mid Suffolk Infrastructure Delivery Plan has been developed 
and continues to be reviewed and updated to inform and support the emerging 
Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan.

This document is aligned with the strategic priorities identified in the draft Joint Local 
Plan, which is currently at Examination, as it is imperative to consider all infrastructure 
needs to enable sustainable development and growth, when they are likely to be 
provided, by which provider, and how they will be funded. 

The term ‘infrastructure’ covers a wide range of services and facilities provided by 
public and private organisations such as schools and other educational facilities, 
health and social well-being, transport, emergency services, utilities, digital 
connectivity, waste, community and leisure facilities, and green infrastructure.

Infrastructure planning is the process for ensuring the physical needs of an area 
can be delivered to keep pace with its population’s requirements. This document 
also includes the involvement of a variety of service providers, agencies and 
partners, which are involved in the provision and implementation of the required 
infrastructure. It is a legislative requirement for both Councils to produce and publish 
an Infrastructure Funding Statement each year (introduced in September 2019). 

These documents not only include a return to the Government each year on how 
much CIL s106 and Neighbourhood CIL has been collected allocated or spent but it 
also provides an Infrastructure List for both Councils which indicates which projects 
CIL will be spent on.

To view the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and infrastructure section of the 
emerging Joint Local Plan, please view the Planning Policy section of the 
Districts websites.

Page 45



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202224

Strategic Aim 6: 
Best use is made of private sector land and private accommodation across the 
districts

•	 We will optimise Private Sector Homes

Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Established Central Suffolk Lettings - A Private Rented Sector lettings and rent 	
	 guarantee scheme which allows our Housing Solutions Team to both prevent 	
	 homelessness and discharge the main housing duty which in turn contributes 	
	 to reducing overall homelessness figures.
•	 Increased the number of long-term empty homes which the Councils have 	
	 supported back in to use. Supported by a new policy and toolkit that was 	
	 approved in July 2022. 
•	 Worked with other Suffolk authorities to develop and implement a new 		
	 approach to delivering Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs)
•	 Developed and implemented a project to increase awareness of the availability 	
	 of support for private tenants in respect of housing conditions and energy 	
	 efficiency standards, to ensure we take more effective action against landlords.
•	 Held a mini conference with landlords to advise them on how they can 		
	 improve EPC ratings and reduce fuel poverty for tenants.  

We continue to: 
•	 Build relationships to better understand the private rented sector in our 
districts, including the challenges and opportunities it presents to stakeholders. 
•	 Support private landlords through grants. 
•	 Support the proper management of Homes in Multiple Occupation through 
effective licensing 
•	 Support the development, with partners, of the Suffolk Design approach 

We aim to: 
•	 Encourage and support the development of more private rented accommodation. 
•	 Establish a Landlords Forum, to advise and assist landlords in respect of legal 	
	 responsibilities, grant availability and Universal Credit, to build better relationships 	
	 and increase access to the private rented sector. 
•	 Promote and support energy efficiency in homes by targeting all F & G energy 	
	 performance rated properties in the private rented sector.
•	 Increase the number of grants awarded to private landlords to install modern 	
	 and efficient heating and insulation systems, to improve the health and well-being 	
	 of residents and the energy efficiency of the homes. 
•	 Review our approach to HMO and HMO licensing and develop a targeted 		
	 approach to engaging with a broader range of properties. 

Page 46



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 25

The private rented sector makes a significant contribution to the housing offer in 
any area, supplying households with more choice and flexible options which directly 
supports an inclusive growth economy. Younger households often choose this type 
of tenure to trial a job/training opportunity, or a location before making a decision to 
settle down.

We also know most private renters have aspirations of becoming owner occupiers at 
some stage, although saving for a deposit and affording a mortgage even on entry 
level market homes in our districts remains financially out of reach for many.

The private rented sector remains the second largest tenure in England. In 2020-21 it 
accounted for 19% of households, and it has grown in the last 20 years across all age 
groups.  We want to encourage a housing sector that has the optimum levels, of all 
types, of tenure that meet the needs of residents.

Compared to social and open market homes, housing costs are particularly high in the 
private rented sector where the majority of low-income households spend at least but 
often more than 31% of their income on rent.  This is likely to be exacerbated by the 
emerging cost of living crisis.

In Babergh and Mid Suffolk we intend to continue to support a well-managed and 
flexible private rented sector as it offers those looking for flexible, shorter term 
accommodation additional options in most parishes. However, we know we must 
understand more about this sector and their occupiers if we are to fully understand 
the challenges and opportunities to optimise good quality, affordable private rental 
accommodation which meets expectations in this part of the housing market.

In 2020 Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils established Central Suffolk Lettings 
(CSL) with the aim of increasing access to good quality homes in the private rented 
sector for eligible residents. CSL is a private rented sector lettings and rent guarantee 
scheme. CSL have been instrumental in improving relations with the private rented 
sector and are now fully operational in the sector and offer private landlords an 
alternative to using a high street letting agency.  CSL are working with investors and 
private landlords on new housing developments and conversions to increase the 
supply of private rented accommodation in the districts.

Page 47



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 26

There will be short periods of time when homes may be empty as part of the natural 
rhythm of the housing market. Long term empty homes, however, are a wasted 
resource as they deprive people of a much-needed home and contribute to the need 
for even more housing.

If properties stay empty for longer than 6 months without any renovation or 
alterations, they have the potential to cause problems to residents and communities 
attracting anti-social behaviour, devaluing neighbouring properties, preventing 
reinvestment and regeneration or being unsightly. 

An Empty Homes Policy and comprehensive toolkit has recently been developed and 
adopted, which aims to reduce the number of long-term empty properties in the 
districts. The policy puts into place several long-term actions that will help property 
owners turn empty homes into safe and secure places to live, as well as a viable source 
of income and empty homes, once restored, will help ease the growing demand for 
homes for residents.

We will ensure housing meets standards set, where there is evidence of substandard 
accommodation we will incentivise or when necessary, take appropriate enforcement 
action to ensure owners comply and residents in our districts can access private 
rented accommodation of an acceptable standard.

Page 48



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202227

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 

•	 Developed and adopted a Communities Strategy to encourage better 		
	 participation and involvement.

•	 Reviewed our Housing Allocations Policy to consider how it meets the needs of 	
	 older or vulnerable applicants.

•	 Ensured the emerging Joint Local Plan includes policies to increase the supply 	
	 of specialist and accessible housing.

We continue to: 

•	 Develop the Integrated Neighbourhood Teams to improve the way housing, 	
	 health and care services are delivered with and for local people.

•	 Work with partners across Suffolk to deliver suitable and sufficient pitches for 	
	 Gypsies and Travellers to meet identified needs.

We aim to: 
•	 Work with partners on the Suffolk Housing Board to produce detailed analysis 	
	 of housing needs for older and vulnerable people; focusing on mix, type, numbers 	
	 required and spatial distribution. Analysis to include downsizing opportunities and 	
	 to consider alternatives to Extra Care Housing.
•	 Commission an Older People’s Homes Development Strategy.
•	 Carry out a health check on our current lettings and allocation policy to ensure 	
	 that the current arrangements continue to meet the needs of the councils and our 	
	 residents.

Strategic Aim 7: 
People live in vibrant and well-connected communities; and homes and 
communities continue to meet the changing needs of residents

•	 We will support the development of sustainable communities
•	 We will meet the specialist needs of residents now and into the future
•	 We will work with partners to deliver suitable pitches for Gypsy and Travellers to 	
	 meet identified accommodation needs

Page 49



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 28

The development of mixed and balanced communities will have a number of benefits. 
We want to see a mix of housing sizes, types and tenures to meet residents’ needs 
because this will ensure changing needs through life stages are met. For example, 
changes to household shapes, sizes and incomes; enable higher-income social 
housing tenants to buy without leaving the area; help preserve age balance in 
our rural communities; older people can move to smaller or rented homes in their 
neighbourhood; promote resident and community stability through a variety of tenure 
mixes, including ownership.

There are currently 1 in 5 people over the age of 65 in Suffolk, this is expected to rise 
to 1 in 3 in 20 years’ time.  Suffolk has a significantly ageing population; some areas 
in Babergh will see more marked increases in the number of older people living there.  
Life expectancy has also increased over the last decade, however, there has been a fall 
in healthy life expectancy over the years. 

Many of these years are therefore being spent in poor health or with disability. The 
increase in levels of dementia is a challenge, with the illness now affecting one in 14 
people over 65 years of age and one in six people over 80 years of age.  

There are strong links between older age, housing and health and this strategy will 
ensure that we recognise the interdependence of these. We need to develop links and 
systems that maximise the use of local expertise on housing and health, so we are far 
more responsive to addressing needs now and in the future.

It’s clear that well designed, integrated services allow us to detect and respond early 
to signs of difficulty and this in turn helps to forestall problems which could lead to 
far more serious and costly consequences later on. We want to develop our early 
help offer to residents as well as tenants and for this to be a fully embedded way of 
working across services.

Page 50



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202229

The development of our new Joint Local Plan is a critical lever in helping to design 
healthier homes and communities, the hallmarks of inclusive growth. The 2018 
National Planning Policy Framework specifically refers to planning policies and 
decisions which enable and support healthier lifestyles. High quality, versatile and 
adaptable homes will be increasingly expected by new and existing residents. We are 
confident that this can be achieved without compromising new supply.

We have a long and successful history of delivering specialist accommodation 
for vulnerable client groups within the districts. However, some of this provision 
particularly our own housing stock which is leased to service providers is outdated, 
the residents occupying these schemes are much older and the models of service 
delivery no longer fit for purpose. We will work with Suffolk County Council and the 
service providers to review this provision and decide whether we should enhance this 
provision where there is clear evidence to do so.

It is widely acknowledged that there is a national shortage of suitable permanent and 
transit sites for Gypsies and Travellers. It is also widely accepted that unsuitable and 
poor accommodation can lead to poor health, low level educational attainment and 
lack of employment opportunities.

To seek to address these issues accommodation needs assessments are regularly 
updated and we work with the Norfolk and Suffolk Gypsy, Roma Traveller Service to 
manage unauthorised sites. Work is ongoing to facilitate temporary provision across 
Suffolk as well as permanent provision of sites in Babergh and Mid Suffolk.

It is important that detailed consideration is given to these issues, that we set strong 
leadership and a positive tone and that any new sites coming forward includes well 
managed communications.

Page 51



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 30

Strategic Aim 8: 
Everyone has a suitable home, and residents are able to live as healthily, safely, 
independently as possible within sustainable communities
•	 We will reduce energy usage and costs through the use of more environmentally 	
	 friendly sustainable alternatives 
•	 We will empower residents in most need to maintain their independence and 		
	 sustain their tenancies 
•	 We will help residents to live independently for as long as possible in their own 	
	 homes 
•	 We will actively encourage and support people to lead active and healthy lives 
•	 We will provide more choice in the housing market for older households and those 	
	 requiring accessible homes 
Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 
•	 Reviewed the way in which we provide information to help our tenants and customers 	
	 to ‘navigate’ their way round the Suffolk system so that they can find the right 		
	 support to help them when they need it. 
•	 Identified strategic objectives for carbon reduction from our housing stock. 
•	  Prepared and published a broad specification for new build council stock, which 	
	 includes consideration of passive technologies and measures to increase accessibility. 
•	 Developed our Active Well-being programme to enhance our physical activity		
	 offer, focused on older people and those living in rural areas to remain active and 	
	 connected to their communities.  

We continue to: 
•	 Identify resources to bring forward environmental improvements to the council’s 	
	 estate, prioritising measures which support the health and well-being of our residents 	
	 and encourage social interaction 
•	 Work with partners across the Suffolk system, including health, to further develop 	
	 measures to support vulnerable residents during winter. 
•	 Work with local Dementia Action Alliances, to proactively support those living 		
	 with 	the condition and their carers to remain active and engaged with a range of 	
	 Dementia- friendly activities and opportunities.  
•	 Collaborating with our partners to establish social prescribing schemes and non 	
	 -medical referral options to improve well-being 
 
We aim to: 
•	 Take forward measures to improve the environmental performance of our housing 	
	 stock in order to reduce carbon emissions, meet national targets and contribute to 	
	 climate emergency objectives.
•	 Expand the programme of upgrades to heating systems in council stock, replacing oil 	
	 systems wherever possible and prioritising heat pumps where appropriate.  
•	 Develop an ‘Early Help Hub’ that delivers effective, coordinated, multi-agency 		
	 interventions - a more strategic approach that avoids service duplication and reduces 	
	 long term service cost 

Page 52



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202231

We want to ensure that we provide the most sustainable and cost-efficient heating 
systems both in our housing stock and that of private landlords to support both the 
environment and support those on low incomes to reduce their fuel costs, this is 
especially important with the current cost of living crisis. 

As part of the government’s Clean Growth Strategy, ministers set a target that all 
social homes must have an EPC rating of ‘C’ by 2030. A comprehensive review has 
taken place, of all of our homes (in conjunction with the Energy Saving Trust), which 
has enabled us to plan and understand the cost of improvement measures, to each 
home, based on ensuring the use of the most cost-effective measures whilst providing 
the greatest level of enhancement to ratings.

We recognise that for those in most need being able to manage their home, tenancy 
and their finances can be difficult for multiple reasons. We will play a role alongside 
our partner agencies to provide targeted support which reduces future demand and 
prevents additional cost to the ‘system’ whether it be the cost of evictions, temporary 
accommodation, and the impact on families. We will ensure that residents have the 
necessary skills to maintain and manage their homes, supporting new skills acquisition 
when appropriate. 

Suffolk has almost double the national average of people resident in rural areas 
and this rural population is older (higher percentage of those 65+)  than its urban 
population. An All-Party Parliamentary Group inquiry HAPPI 4 (Housing our Ageing 
Population: Panel for Innovation) into rural housing shows people living in very rural 
areas like ours experience more limited social networks, isolation, and loneliness which 
can be exacerbated by poor transport. 

Increasing life expectancy means we must continue to respond to the changing 
health needs of our older population and those who have especially complex needs. 
We will achieve this through encouraging more new-build homes to be adaptable 
to changing family requirements, refurbishments to existing homes and improving 
access to the full range of housing options. 

In addition to the predicted rise in the older population we also expect a growing 
number of households to include one or more persons with a disability and more 
households with people living with long-term health conditions, because of ongoing 
innovations in the treatment of medical conditions. 

Delivering improvements to unsuitable housing for people whose independence is 
compromised has been addressed by the establishment of Babergh and Mid Suffolk’s 
Independent Living Service (ILS). The ILS provides advice, support and financial help 
to people living in the private sector. The service aims to encourage independence 
at home, by providing a supportive network across the county, focusing on creating 
suitable home environments for vulnerable residents, their families and carers. This 
includes listening to people and offering guidance on financial support, adaptations 
and relocation assistance.

Page 53



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 32

The ILS co-ordinates delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and Minor Work 
Grants (MAGs). DFGs are subject to households means testing and are available to 
adapt a home of a disabled person or someone with a long-term chronic illness. 
Assessments are made by qualified occupational therapists. MAGs are not subject to a 
means test and are for lower value adaptations, they need to be supported by a letter 
from a suitable medical practitioner or recommendations by an occupational therapist. 

Adaptations for both grants include provision of more suitable fittings or equipment, 
or changes to the fabric of the building to make everyday things easier which most 
take for granted, for example, getting into the home, bathing, preparing a meal or 
simply enjoying shared family time. 

Between 2019 and 2022 198 homes in Babergh and 177 homes in Mid 
Suffolk have benefited from adaptations through the Disabled Facility and 
Minor Works grants.

We recognise the importance of the strategic priorities of our partners and will 
continue to support and endorse national programmes, such as winter planning 
for vulnerable groups, sharing local intelligence and novel ways to promote health 
awareness both to our vulnerable customers and to staff and partners alike. 

When people fall ill, particularly when this includes a period in hospital, this can 
often delay and prevent them from returning home. This is not only stressful and 
inconvenient for the individual and their families, it can also be expensive, for a range 
of agencies. We need to be better prepared and more resilient as a system, to utilise 
our collective skills and resources to address gaps, delays and obstacles to the way we 
support people to get back to their homes. 

We are committed to continuing to work together with our public sector partners, 
Suffolk County Council, the Clinical Commissioning Groups, Public Health, private, 
voluntary and community sectors to develop a fully integrated approach to housing, 
health and social care which harnesses the ambitions, experience and skills of all the 
partners and communities across Suffolk. 

This means we need to understand how other services operate, how they deliver 
support and advice and what interventions they expect from others. We continue to 
share with partners what services we provide, for instance the benefits of housing 
adaptations and the risks of living in unheated homes and other hazards. We believe 
it to be important we reciprocate so others understand more about the home 
environment and how it might affect health so effective timely interventions can be 
better coordinated. 

We also understand the complexities of the health and support services system, so 
we want to focus on helping customers and their families who are unsure or anxious 
navigate their way around the many and varied local health, social care and voluntary 
services that are there to help. 

Page 54



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202233

Older people can find access to right information at the right time difficult for many 
reasons, including lack of access to the internet or because they have limited mobility. 
Developing a better system would help to address these barriers as well as supporting 
people to access the various voluntary sector groups within their communities. 

We also understand the complexities of the health and support services system, so 
we want to focus on helping customers and their families who are unsure or anxious 
navigate their way around the many and varied local health, social care and voluntary 
services that are there to help. Older people can find access to right information at 
the right time difficult for many reasons, including lack of access to the internet or 
because they have limited mobility. Developing a better system would help to address 
these barriers as well as supporting people to access the various voluntary sector 
groups within their communities. 

Older people’s economic and social circumstances also impact significantly on their 
health and well-being. Older people with less income and fewer financial assets are 
more likely to be overweight or obese and have lower levels of physical activity; 
older people with few relationships and little engagement with the local community 
frequently experience isolation and associated health problems such as depression, 
dementia, anxiety and decreased mobility. Our aim is to enable support and 
networking groups to thrive so older and vulnerable people are less isolated. 

General needs housing may be the most appropriate housing option for many older 
people. However, in order for older people to remain healthy in their homes, they may 
need more assistance to keep their homes in a good state of repair and suitable for 
their needs. 

We know that older people want to remain in their own homes, within the 
communities they know, with connections to their networks, their family and friends. 
We also know they would prefer not to move into residential or nursing care when 
their needs become too great. 

Some people make early plans for life in old age, they move to more suitable housing, 
they move to communities which allow them to access shops and a doctor, they have 
the economic means to make informed choices. 

For some older people, the choices they have are more limited, ill health isn’t 
anticipated and they have less time to make plans. It is much more difficult to provide 
the positive outcomes they need, and their families expect. Appropriate housing and 
location, the right care and support as well as other services, such as reliable public 
transport enables people to remain involved and live independently. 

We will therefore develop our priorities to support the older and most vulnerable 
to have more choice on the type of accommodation available, its location, local 
infrastructure and support networks. 

Page 55



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 34

Strategic Aim 9: 
Both councils have strong relationships with residents, developers and other 
partners that enable us to deliver housing, infrastructure and services effectively, 
and to innovate where appropriate

•	 We will build stronger relationships and partnerships 

Since the publication of the Joint Homes and Housing Strategy in 2019:

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n 
Tr

ac
k 

Ta
rg

et
 N

ex
t

We have: 

•	  Promoted and supported the delivery of community-led housing schemes 	
	 and 	the formation of Community Land Trusts  

•	 Worked with neighbourhood groups to encourage communities to develop 	
	 their own development plans 

We continue to: 

•	 Provide support to neighbourhood planning groups to create and ‘make’ 	
	 effective plans which deliver the housing that communities want in the 		
	 designated area. 

•	 Have active and regular engagement with registered providers, and potential 	
	 new providers, to increase the supply of new homes, including from for-profit 	
	 housing associations. 

We aim to: 

•	 Maintain and strengthen our relationship with Homes England in order to 		
	 optimise the funding streams for which we are eligible, including borrowing within 	
	 the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 

•	 Develop a neighbourhood strategy and policy setting out how we will work with 	
	 our tenants to improve the areas they live. 	

•	 Work collectively as local authorities, within Suffolk, to support the effective 		
	 delivery of services in relation to housing through means of the Suffolk Housing 	
	 Board. 

Page 56



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202235

Neighbourhood Plans enable communities to set out a positive vision for how their 
area can develop and change to meet identified local need. This can include allocating 
new sites for housing development. 

Neighbourhood Plans enable communities to set out a positive vision for how their 
area can develop and change to meet identified local need. This can include allocating 
new sites for housing development. 

To date, 24 Neighbourhood Plans have been adopted across our two districts (10 in 
Babergh and 14 in Mid Suffolk).  Many other local communities are also preparing 
plans. We will continue to work with groups to develop their own plans.  

The Community Housing Fund empowers local groups to identify what housing is 
needed in their area, the best location for it and to work with partners to deliver those 
developments. We will work closely with community-led housing groups and other 
stakeholders – such as the Community Land Trusts network and Homes England – to 
put the best tools in place to ensure efficient delivery of new local homes for local 
people. 

The Lavenham Community Land Trust is an example of one of these groups in action.  
The Trust, working in partnership with the Council’s Strategic Housing Team and 
other stakeholders, developed 18 affordable homes for local people, either to rent or 
for part ownership.  The scheme was made possible, and part financed by Babergh 
Community Housing Fund and capital grant.

We continue to work with Suffolk County Council to identify suitable sites for new 
homes and we will continue to be more proactive in this approach. We will explore 
how to create innovative housing solutions that provide financial benefits but more 
importantly social and long-term benefits for our residents. 

The Suffolk Housing Board is an established mechanism for progressing shared 
priorities and is committed to ensuring the voice of housing can be fully embedded 
across the integrated health and care delivery model in Suffolk and ensuring partners 
can utilise their assets more effectively to address increased and changing housing 
demand.

The success of this Homes and Housing Strategy and its priorities will be reliant on 
the quality and timeliness of ongoing connectivity and communication with actions 
reflecting the critical importance of a ‘joined up’ approach to ensure we make a 
positive difference to the housing markets. 

Page 57



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 2022 36

Monitoring and Governance 
This housing strategy sets out the current housing priorities and how we will address 
them over the short term and sets the direction of future travel beyond. The strategy 
is supported by a comprehensive and SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, 
relevant, and time-bound) Delivery Plan (Appendix 1). The four principles that 
underpin this strategy are:

•	 We will be open for business, working with anyone that wants to develop and 
deliver much needed new homes; making more effective use of existing homes; 
and developing innovative solutions to the housing needs of our residents and 
communities.

•	 A new relationship with residents which is based around their need and their 
experience, rather than the processes of individual agencies. We plan to enable 
residents to feel empowered and have more choices with regard to; more of the 
right homes, in the right places, of the right tenure, at the right price and at the 
right time. 

•	 A one public sector approach working together in a more linked up way with our 
public sector partners across the districts to deliver better services. This will help us 
to deliver more effective and efficient services whilst making savings to the public 
purse. 

•	 We are committed to transparency and information on how we are performing 
against the action plans.  Updates will be regularly published online to ensure 
residents have the information at their fingertips to engage with us and ensure we 
deliver on our priorities. 

The Homes and Housing Strategy will be reviewed annually at Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. The Delivery Plan will be monitored quarterly. We will ensure, 
going forward, that the way we work will be flexible enough to incorporate changes 
and take advantage of potential new funding opportunities as Central Government’s 
housing, planning and social care policies around us change – in order to maximise 
benefits to our residents. 

Our housing vision is for residents of Babergh and Mid Suffolk to live in affordable 
and high quality homes that enable them to build settled, safe & healthy lives, 
within sustainable and thriving communities. The detail of why, how and what we 
will do to make this a reality is explained in this document and expanded upon in 
the Delivery Plan (Appendix 1) and we invite our residents to support this vision by 
working with us. 

Page 58



Joint Homes and Housing Strategy - October 202237

JOINT HOMES AND 
HOUSING STRATEGY

October 2022

Babergh & Mid Suffolk
District Councils 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



2023 Version - H&H -  Delivery Plan
Task Name Target Date: Action Owner Action Owner Role: Status

2023 VERSION -  HOMES AND HOUSING STRATEGY - DELIVERY PLAN
Strategic Aim 1: The housing market functions effectively, providing homes that are as

affordable as possible.
1.1. Adopt a Joint Local Plan 'Part 1' to provide clear policies and direction to all involved with development,

enabling housing needs to be met, supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan.
Autumn 2023 Robert Hobbs Corporate Manager

Strategic Planning
In Progress

1.2. Increase the proportion of new homes delivered directly by the Councils, which exceed minimum
environmental standards and are in line with the Councils’ Design Guide Specification, between 2023 and 2025.
(Target to be set following the publication of the HRA Business Plan, later in 2023).’

March 2025 Holly Brett Corporate Manager
Council Companies

In Progress

1.3. Determine whether and how the Council can identify and bring forward land to increase the supply of self-
build plots, with a targeted strategy to be put in place.

June 2024 Holly Brett Corporate Manager
Council Companies

In Progress

Strategic Aim 2: There is a wide and varied choice of good quality, sustainable homes of
different sizes, types and tenures to meet the needs of a wide range of different households.

2.1.  Adopt an Affordable Housing SPD to detail the circumstances in which we would take a flexible approach
to tenure mix to maximise delivery.

March 2024 Louise Barker Strategic Housing Team
Manager

In Progress

2.2. Utilise available data to inform a plan for the future alternative uses for low demand or unsuitable garage
sites and deliver a report to both Cabinets with recommendations for those sites.

December
2024

Holly Brett and
Robert Longfoot

Corporate Manager
Council Companies and
Tenant Services Corporate
Manager

In Progress

2.3. Work with partners to produce an enhanced affordable housing stock database, to support housing
enabling and development decisions.

September
2024

Louise Barker Strategic Housing Team
Manager

In Progress

2.4. Ensure efficient use of the Council's housing stock by creating a cohesive plan, considering occupancy
levels, trends and BMSDC's housing stock, to address overcrowding and meeting the needs of larger families
alongside the creation of a new scheme to incentivize, support & encourage tenants to downsize.

September
2024

Robert Longfoot
and Amma
Antwi-Yeboah

Tenant Services Corporate
Manager and Housing
Solutions Corporate
Manager

In Progress

NEW: 2.5. Produce a brief to clarify and commission further research into the role of the Private Rented Sector
in preventing and relieving homelessness in Babergh and Mid Suffolk, to help direct future activity for Central
Suffolk Lettings and to inform housing enabling decisions.

March 2024 Stephanie Lloyd Team Manager Central
Suffolk Lettings and
Business Support

New

Strategic Aim 3: Homelessness is prevented and our services provide positive and planned
interventions.

3.1. Review the current Joint Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeping Strategy, and produce new Joint
Strategy and Delivery Plan ready for adoption and publication in 2024.

March 2024 Rebecca Ward Housing Strategy and
Policy Officer

In Progress

3.2. Review the effectiveness of our pathway plans for ensuring that they help the most vulnerable client groups
to access services at an earlier stage.

March 2024 Susannah
Farrer

Housing Solutions Team
Manager

In Progress

3.3. Build relationships with local CAB to agree a protocol for joined up working to support individuals and
families experiencing complex housing difficulties.

Ongoing Victoria Bond Housing Solutions Service
Manager

In Progress

3.4. Complete the review of temporary accommodation to ensure sufficient supply of TA to reduce the usage of
bed and breakfast accommodation.

December
2023

Victoria Bond Housing Solutions Service
Manager

In Progress

3.5. Quantify accommodation needs for under-35s; including the Private Rented Sector and HMO (Houses in
Multiple Occupation) schemes, and set out an ongoing investment/development programme.

June 2024 Stephanie Lloyd Team Manager Central
Suffolk Lettings and
Business Support

In Progress

3.6. Support the objectives of the Cost of Living Crisis Action Plan, as the plan evolves and more detail is
known. https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/benefits/cost-of-living-support/

Ongoing Amma Antwi-
Yeboah

Housing Solutions
Corporate Manager

In Progress

Strategic Aim 4: Babergh and Mid Suffolk is an effective social landlord known for delivering
quality services.

4.1. Establish compliance with the Social Housing Regulations, including Consumer Standards and Building
Safety Regulations; to ensure that BMSDC is a compliant landlord and tenants are able to see how we are
performing against the standards.

March 2024 David White Housing Transformation
Manager

In Progress

4.2. . Work with tenants to refresh and implement effective, efficient procedures and service standards,
including effective and inclusive communication plans, across the Tenant Services Teams which meet the
expectations of our tenants.   Maximising the use of tenant insight to continuously improve and adapt our delivery
of high quality housing services.

September
2024

Robert Longfoot Tenant Services Corporate
Manager

In Progress

4.3. Launch a BMSDC ‘Income Roadmap’ to ensure that we are best placed to meet the needs of our tenants
who are experiencing financial difficulties, and to ensure that income to the HRA to provide new and improved
services for tenants is protected.

March 2024 Robert Longfoot Tenant Services Corporate
Manager

In Progress

Page 1 of 3

P
age 61

https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/benefits/cost-of-living-support/


Task Name Target Date: Action Owner Action Owner Role: Status
4.4.  Implement revised methods of service charging for tenants which improve equity and enable tenants to

see clearly what they are paying for.  Scope a project to de-pool service charges from the general rent pool in
sheltered accommodation.

December
2024

Robert Longfoot Tenant Services Corporate
Manager

In Progress

4.5. Determine the feasibility and cost of a range of retrofit energy efficiency measures in line with PAS2035, to
improve environmental performance, reduce operating costs and/or enhance the customer experience and support
vulnerable tenants.

May 2024 Richard Spencer Head of Investment and
Compliance

In Progress

4.6. Babergh Mid Suffolk Building Services to undergo a full diagnostic assessment leading to transformation of
the service, to ensure that Building Services is in an optimised position to meet the requirements of the Building
Safety Act and to contribute to meeting Climate Emergency objectives.

Ongoing Deborah Fenton Director for Housing In Progress

NEW: 4.7. Ensure we deliver a quality repairs and planned works service by holding our contractors to account.
Making sure they respond to works orders in a timely manner as set out in their contract KPIs and our tenancy
agreements.

April 2024
(Rolling Target)

Richard Spencer Head of Investment and
Compliance

New

NEW: 4.8 Commission and produce an update Housing Revenue Account Business Plan that provides the
organisation with a clear and costed Housing Service.

December
2023

Deborah Fenton Director for Housing New

Strategic Aim 5: Homes are in high quality, sustainable environments, served by jobs and
community facilities, appropriate green space, effective transport links and other necessary
infrastructure.

5.1. Update the published Infrastructure Delivery Plan to ensure that the Joint Local Plan can be delivered, by
working with partners to assess infrastructure needs and delivery mechanisms, in line with the Joint Local Plan
timescales.

February 2024 Christine
Thurlow

Professional Lead - Key
Sites and Infrastructure
Development Manager

In Progress

5.2. Establish a collaborative plan, that considers viability, capacity and expertise, to investigate installing
electric vehicle charging points to serve existing council houses.

October 2024 Sarah Wilding
and Richard
Spencer

Climate Change Manager
and Head of Investment
and Compliance

In Progress

5.3. Prepare for ‘Biodiversity offsetting’ when Biodiversity net gain becomes compulsory in 2023; by identifying
sites and pursuing opportunities for securing net gains, in areas that maximise the benefits provided.

November
2023

Richard Parmee Biodiversity Project
Manager

In Progress

NEW: 5.4. Utilise the Housing Revenue Account’s capital environmental improvement budget and other
associated funding, through the Greater Places, Better Spaces initiative. Prioritising measures which support
the health and wellbeing of our residents, encourage social interaction, empower tenants, residents and
communities and other partners, and positively impact on reducing carbon emissions.

March 2024 David White Housing Transformation
Manager

New

Strategic Aim 6: Best use of private sector land and private accommodation across the districts.
6.1. Establish a Landlords Forum, to advice and assist landlords in respect of legal responsibilities, grant

availability and Universal Credit, to build better relationships and increase access to the private rented sector.
December
2023

Stephanie Lloyd Team Manager Central
Suffolk Lettings and
Business Support

In Progress

6.2. Review our approach to HMO and HMO licensing and develop a targeted approach to engaging with a
broader range of properties.

December
2023

Amanda Todd Senior Environmental
Health Officer

In Progress

NEW: 6.3. Review the current system of Grants to Private Landlords to maximise opportunities to improve the
health and wellbeing of residents and the energy efficiency of homes.

December
2024

Amma Antwi-
Yeboah

Housing Solutions
Corporate Manager

New

NEW: 6.4. BMSDC to take active part in the Suffolk-wide Private Rented Sector Pathfinder Programme to
improve conditions for tenants.

April 2025 Amma Antwi-
Yeboah

Housing Solutions
Corporate Manager

New

Strategic 7: People live in vibrant and well-connected communities, and homes and
communities contribute to meet the changing needs of residents.

7.1. Bring forward innovative redevelopment opportunities for redundant and under used sheltered
accommodation.

March 2025 Robert Longfoot Tenant Services Corporate
Manager

In Progress

7.2. Commission an Older People's Homes Development Strategy; including analysis of housing needs for
older and vulnerable people; focusing on mix, type, numbers required and spatial distribution. Analysis to include
downsizing opportunities and to consider alternatives to Extra Care Housing.

September
2024

Amma Antwi-
Yeboah

Housing Solutions
Corporate Manager

In Progress

7.3. Carry out a health check on our current lettings and allocation policy to ensure that the current
arrangements continue to meet the needs of the council's and our residents.

December
2024

Amma Antwi-
Yeboah

Housing Solutions
Corporate Manager

In Progress

NEW: 7.4. Complete an update to the Accommodation Needs Assessment for Gypsies, Travellers, Travelling
Showpeople and Boat Dwellers in order to inform the forthcoming Joint Local Plan Part 2 in allocating sites for
development (if required).

March 2024 Louise Barker Strategic Housing Team
Manager

New

Strategic Aim 8: Everyone has a suitable home, and residents are able to live as healthily,
safely, independently as possible within sustainable communities.

8.1. Implement a programme of upgrades to heating systems in council stock, replacing oil systems wherever
possible and prioritising heat pumps where appropriate.

April 2024 Richard Spencer Head of Investment and
Compliance

In Progress

8.2. Develop an 'Early Help Hub' that delivers effective, coordinated, multi agency interventions - a more
strategic approach that avoids service duplication and reduces long term service cost (e.g. non-elective hospital
admissions).

December
2023

Amma Antwi-
Yeboah

Housing Solutions
Corporate Manager

In Progress

Page 2 of 3

P
age 62



Task Name Target Date: Action Owner Action Owner Role: Status
8.3. Take forward measures to improve the environmental performance of our housing stock, in order to reduce

carbon emissions, meet national targets for all social homes to be EPC rating of C or above by 2030 and to
contribute to corporate and countywide climate emergency objectives.

April 2024 Richard Spencer Head of Investment and
Compliance

In Progress

NEW: 8.4. To ensure healthy and safe homes by beginning to carry out a program of comprehensive stock
condition surveys of our housing stock, over a rolling 4-year period in line with industry recommendations for
future changes to the decent homes standard. (25% of stock per year).

April 2024
(Rolling Target)

Richard Spencer Head of Investment and
Compliance

New

Strategic Aim 9: Both Councils have strong relationships with residents, developers and other
partners that enable us to deliver housing, infrastructure and services effectively, and to innovate
where appropriate.

9.1. Provide support to neighbourhood planning groups to create and 'make' effective plans which deliver the
housing that communities want in the designated area.

Ongoing Paul Bryant Neighbourhood Planning
Officer

In Progress

9.2. Develop a neighbourhood strategy and policy setting out how we will work with our tenants to improve the
areas they live, utilising the Greater Places, Better Spaces initiative. Including reviewing our approach to the
management of garages.  We will set targets for improvement in satisfaction with the neighbourhood as a place to
live and work with our communities and colleagues across the business to deliver them.

December
2023

Robert Longfoot Tenant Services Corporate
Manager

In Progress

NEW: 9.3. Develop an Engagement Plan with members to holistically review the Homes and Housing Strategy
to ensure it is reflective of our current administrations' strategic priorities for housing in the districts.

October 2024 Rebecca Ward Housing Strategy and
Policy Officer

New

Page 3 of 3

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date Item Ref Item Title Recommendations Key Officer Progess Status

1.1 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee thanks 

Anglian Water, the Environment Agency, Natural England, and the 

River Stour Trust for their attendance and for the answers 

provided.

N/A

Completed

1.2 That the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny provide a report and 

verbal update on the contents and outcomes of the Committee 

meeting at the next Full Council meetings.

AN 18/09 AN: Will be presented to Council on 24th/26th 

October. Not Started

1.3 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for 

more information from the external representatives, specifically 

including the phosphate reducing programme, and asks that this 

be fed back to the Committee via an information bulletin.

AN 27/09 AN: No further information requested by the 

Committee. Information on the phosphate reducing 

programme will be requested and fed back to the 

committee via email rather than an information bulletin.
Completed

1.4 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for a 

wider publicity campaign for residents, staff, and Councillors 

regarding materials that cannot be put into the sewage system. 

N/A

Not Started

1.5 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for 

Cabinet to investigate the possibility of running a campaign 

regarding the provision of water butts for residents.

N/A

Not Started

1.6 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests for 

Council to consider supporting "citizen science" projects

N/A 18/09 AN: Will be presented to Council on 24th/26th 

October. Not Started

1.7 That Mid Suffolk District Council receives an update on their 

concerns over water quality in the District from OFWAT.

AN
Ongoing

JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTION TRACKER

The purpose of this action tracker is to document and track the progress of all recommendations made by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. This tracker seeks to inform 

committee members on the implementation of their recommendations and the subsequent decisions reached by Cabinet if required. This tracker is updated ahead of and following 

each meeting of the Committee.

Updated 11th October 2023 - AN

Review on Current 

Levels of Untreated 

Sewage Discharges to 

Waters in Babergh 

and Mid Suffolk

JOS/23/1518.09.23

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 9

https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32049/Information Bulletin - Sewage and River Quality.pdf


Date Item Ref Item Title Recommendations Key Officer Progess Status

JOS/23/08 CIFCO Performance 

Report (2022/23) and 

Business Plan 

(2023/24)

1.1 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the 

CIFCO Business Trading and Performance Report and asks that 

the minutes of the meeting be taken into account when CIFCO is 

next considered at Full Council.

EA 21.08.23: CIFCO will be presented to Full Council week 

beginning 18th September 2023 with the minutes from the 

O&S meeting included as an appendix. Completed

JOS/23/09 Cost of Living: Review 

of 6 Month Plan and 

Beyond

1.1 To note phase 3 of the Cost of Living Action Plan and endorse 

the commitment to develop a longer term approach to preventing 

poverty, which seeks to understand the underlying drivers of 

poverty across both districts at a hyper-local level, through 

continued work with internal and external stakeholders and to 

include wider engagement with Town and Parish Councils.

SL

Completed

Date Item Ref Item Title Recommendations Key Officer Progess Status

1.1 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the 

report and commends the Officers involved for their work within 

the Partnership.

N/A

Completed

1.2 That an All Member Briefing and further training be delivered 

for all Councillors regarding the topics covered by the Western 

Suffolk Community Safety Partnership, including how to report 

ASB and an updated contact list.

VM

Ongoing

1.3 That a review of the current costs of Babergh and Mid Suffolk 

resources and the potential impact of further statutory 

responsibilities is undertaken and reported back to the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

VM

Ongoing

1.4 That the level of engagement with community groups within the 

Districts is incorporated into the next review of the Western Suffolk 

Community Safety Partnership and is reported to the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

VM

Ongoing

1.5 That a review is undertaken of the Western Suffolk Community 

Safety Partnership's position within the Babergh and Mid Suffolk 

Significant Business Risk Register.

VM

Ongoing

1.6 That more formal communication procedures are put in place 

between the Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership and 

our Parish / Town Councils.

VM

Ongoing

21.08.23

24.07.23 JOS/23/02 Western Suffolk 

Community Safety 

Partnership

P
age 66

https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31819/JOS2308 CIFCO OS Covering Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31819/JOS2308 CIFCO OS Covering Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31819/JOS2308 CIFCO OS Covering Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31819/JOS2308 CIFCO OS Covering Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31776/Joint Cabinet Report CoL 03.10.2023.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31776/Joint Cabinet Report CoL 03.10.2023.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31776/Joint Cabinet Report CoL 03.10.2023.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31546/Report - Review of Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 2022-23.pdf


Date Item Ref Item Title Recommendations Key Officer Progess Status

3.1 That the contents of the report be noted by the Joint Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee

N/A

Completed

3.2 That Officers be requested to alter the frequency and content 

of the survey of customer experience of the pre-application service 

to "open" rather than annual

PI

Completed

3.3 That Officers be requested to undertake an annual survey of 

Development Management Planning Officers of their experience of 

customer service.

PI

Ongoing

3.4 That Officers develop a model for quarterly audit of timeliness, 

quality and customer service including to assess the effectiveness 

of the pre-application advice process in the validation of 

applications and correlation of advice with outcome

PI

Ongoing

3.5 That the Corporate Director for Planning and Building Control 

and the Chief Planning Officer review the results of the above-

mentioned surveys and audit with the Client Side Panel and report 

at least bi-annually to the Cabinet Members for Planning

TB / PI

Ongoing

3.6 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee request the 

Director for Planning and Building Control and the Chief Planning 

Officer consider arrangements to provide adequate training and 

mentoring opportunities for all planning staff with a view to 

providing an improved level of pre-app service

TB / PI

Ongoing

3.7 That the Corporate Director for Planning and Building Control 

and the Chief Planning Officer aim for an overall quality of advice 

level of satisfaction of 60% by 30th April 2025

TB / PI

Ongoing

Date Item Ref Item Title Recommendations Key Officer Progess Status

23.01.23

(MSDC)

Mca/22/27 Call-In of the Decision 

From the Mid Suffolk 

Cabinet Meeting 7 

November 2022

That Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committee refers the 

matter back to the Cabinet for reconsideration with the following 

observations:

- That Officers undertake further public engagement

- That Officers and Cabinet consider locating other sites within the 

district for the scheme

- That Cabinet takes into consideration the planning advice 

provided

AN / HH 08.08.23 The Call-In went before Cabinet on 8th August for 

further consideration. It was determined that the Council 

defer any progress on the Elmswell site until Part 2 of the 

Joint Local Plan is progressed, allowing for further 

engagement with internal and external stakeholders.
Completed

Are Planning Pre-

Application Advice 

Customers Getting a 

Valuable Service?

JOS/22/4520.02.23

P
age 67

https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30065/MCa2227 - Call-In Notice.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30065/MCa2227 - Call-In Notice.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30065/MCa2227 - Call-In Notice.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30065/MCa2227 - Call-In Notice.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30375/JOS2245 - Report.pdf


Date Item Ref Item Title Recommendations Key Officer Progess Status

1.1 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the 

content of the report and that a verbal presentation of the 

comments made at this meeting be provided to Cabinet

N/A 03.10.22: Councillor Hinton made a verbal representation at 

Babergh Cabinet.

03.10.22: Councillor Welham made a verbal representation 

at Mid Suffolk Cabinet.

Completed

1.2 That Cabinet is requested to carry out further work to replace 

(reduce) carparking demands with alternatives by looking at other 

areas that have done so successfully.

ME 24.02.23: A new Parking Strategy Manager will be 

appointed in March and will lead on this in conjunction with 

KD when considering impact of current/future local 

business demand.

Ongoing

1.3 That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee asks that a 

report be provided to the Committee in due course to review the 

progress on the Parking strategy implementation plan.

ME 30.09.22: Confirmed that progress reports will be provided 

to Overview and Scrutiny once implentation had begun.

24.02.23: Signed off in principle by Portfolio holders and 

are currently looking at how it can be brought back to 

Cabinet and Joint O&S with an update.

Ongoing

1.1  That Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommend 

to Babergh Cabinet that an analysis of the unmet demand for 

community transport in the district be carried out.

KD

Completed

1.2  That the Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

recommend to Cabinet that Suffolk County Council be informed of 

the apparent lack of publicity of community transport across the 

district, and to encourage joint working between Babergh and Mid 

Suffolk District Councils and Suffolk County Council to promote 

community transport services.

KD Officers have been in contact with counterparts at Suffolk 

County Council to push for further publicity regarding 

community transport. The Communications team have 

agreed to disemminate and promote any communication 

from SCC out to our residents.

Completed

1.3 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to 

Cabinet that the feasibility of providing an electric bus project 

throughout the district, similar to that being implemented by Mid 

Suffolk be investigated.

KD

Completed

1.1  That Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

recommend to Mid Suffolk Cabinet that, as part of the 

development of the electric bus project, local consultations to elicit 

unmet transport needs should be carried out – one covering an 

urban area and one covering a rural area.

KD 03/10/23: A grant scheme for rural transport provision in 

Mid Suffolk has been agreed by cabinet. The grants will be 

for the delivery of set and specific routes, and an unmet 

transport needs assessment will be carried out in order to 

determine these routes

Completed

1.2  That the Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

recommend to Cabinet that Suffolk County Council be informed of 

the apparent lack of publicity of community transport across the 

district, and to encourage joint working between Babergh and Mid 

Suffolk District Councils and Suffolk County Council to promote 

community transport services.

KD Officers have been in contact with counterparts at Suffolk 

County Council to push for further publicity regarding 

community transport. The Communications team have 

agreed to disemminate and promote any communication 

from SCC out to our residents.
Completed

Recommendations 

from the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Task and Finish Group 

for Rural Transport

JOS/22/11

JOS/22/8 Babergh and Mid 

Suffolk District 

Councils' Parking 

Strategy

30.09.22

30.09.22

P
age 68

https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28410/Parking Strategy OS.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28410/Parking Strategy OS.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28470/TFG Report 30.09.22.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28410/Parking Strategy OS.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28410/Parking Strategy OS.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28410/Parking Strategy OS.pdf
https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28410/Parking Strategy OS.pdf


Updated 6 October 2023 

Alicia Norman 

Lead Officer – Overview + Scrutiny and Projects 

Enquiries: Alicia.Norman@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk  

www.babergh.gov.uk and www.midsuffolk.gov.uk  

 

BABERGH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 

PLAN 2023/24: 
 

TOPIC PURPOSE LEAD OFFICER 
CABINET 
MEMBER  

16 NOVEMBER 2023 

Draft General Fund (GF) 

and Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) – A review 

of the 2024/25 

Assumptions 

To scrutinise the draft versions 
of the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account 
before the final figures are 
presented to the Committee in 
January. 

Director – Corporate 
Resources 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 

Homelessness Reduction 

and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 2024 

To review the new 
Homelessness Strategy as 
required by the Homelessness 
Act (2002) 

Director - Housing Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Property 

18 DECEMBER 2023 

    

22 JANUARY 2024 

General Fund (GF) and 

Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) 2024/25 

To scrutinise the Budgets before 
recommendation and approval 
by the Cabinet and Full Council. 

Director – Corporate 
Resources 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 

Review of the 

Implementation of the 

Culture, Heritage, and 

Visitor Economy Strategy 

 

To review the progress of the 
Strategy’s implementation plan – 
requested to come to this 
Committee by Members in 
January 2023. 

Director – Economic 
Growth and Climate 
Change 

Cabinet Member for 
Thriving Towns and 
Rural Communities 

19 FEBRUARY 2024 

    

18 MARCH 2024 

A review of the Joint 

Local Planning 

Enforcement Plan Task 

and Finish Group 

Recommendations 

To scrutinise and evaluate the 
recommendations from the Joint 
Local Planning Enforcement 
Plan Task and Finish Group 

Director – Planning 
and Building Control 

Cabinet Member for 
Heritage, Planning, and 
Infrastructure 

Page 69

Agenda Item 10

http://www.babergh.gov.uk/
http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/


Updated 6 October 2023 

Alicia Norman 

Lead Officer – Overview + Scrutiny and Projects 

Enquiries: Alicia.Norman@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk  

www.babergh.gov.uk and www.midsuffolk.gov.uk  

 

22 APRIL 2024 

    

20 MAY 2024 

    

 
Topics still to be timetabled: 

• Social Housing – Review of existing caseload and resources needed for repairs to meet 
new and improved standards 

• Town Regeneration – Identifying issues regarding our town centres and how we can 
increase footfall / use of services in key areas through extra support 

• Accessibility to services – Reviewing what barriers are in the way of the public contacting 
us via the website, telephone, and customer service points. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

http://www.babergh.gov.uk/
http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/


Updated 6 October 2023 

Alicia Norman 

Lead Officer – Overview + Scrutiny and Projects 

Enquiries: Alicia.Norman@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk  

www.midsuffolk.gov.uk and www.babergh.gov.uk 

 

MID SUFFOLK OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 

PLAN 2023/24: 
 

TOPIC PURPOSE LEAD OFFICER 
CABINET 
MEMBER  

16 NOVEMBER 2023 

Draft General Fund (GF) 

and Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) – A review 

of the 2024/25 

Assumptions 

To scrutinise the draft versions 
of the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account 
before the final figures are 
presented to the Committee in 
January. 

Director – Corporate 
Resources 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 

Homelessness Reduction 

and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 2024 

To review the new 
Homelessness Strategy as 
required by the Homelessness 
Act (2002) 

Director - Housing Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Property 

18 DECEMBER 2023 

    

22 JANUARY 2024 

General Fund (GF) and 

Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) 2024/25 

To scrutinise the Budgets before 
recommendation and approval 
by the Cabinet and Full Council. 

Director – Corporate 
Resources 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 

Review of the 

Implementation of the 

Culture, Heritage, and 

Visitor Economy Strategy 

 

To review the progress of the 
Strategy’s implementation plan – 
requested to come to this 
Committee by Members in 
January 2023. 

Director – Economic 
Growth and Climate 
Change 

Cabinet Member for 
Thriving Towns and 
Rural Communities 

19 FEBRUARY 2024 

    

18 MARCH 2024 

A review of the Joint 

Local Planning 

Enforcement Plan Task 

and Finish Group 

Recommendations 

To scrutinise and evaluate the 
recommendations from the Joint 
Local Planning Enforcement 
Plan Task and Finish Group 

Director – Planning 
and Building Control 

Cabinet Member for 
Heritage, Planning, and 
Infrastructure 

Page 71

Agenda Item 11

http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/


Updated 6 October 2023 

Alicia Norman 

Lead Officer – Overview + Scrutiny and Projects 

Enquiries: Alicia.Norman@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk  

www.midsuffolk.gov.uk and www.babergh.gov.uk 

 

22 APRIL 2024 

    

20 MAY 2024 

    

 

Topics still to be timetabled: 

• Social Housing – Review of existing caseload and resources needed for repairs to meet 
new and improved standards 

• Town Regeneration – Identifying issues regarding our town centres and how we can 
increase footfall / use of services in key areas through extra support 

• Accessibility to services – Reviewing what barriers are in the way of the public contacting 
us via the website, telephone, and customer service points. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 72

http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/

	Agenda
	3 JOS/23/20 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18 SEPTEMBER 2023
	7 JOS/23/21 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE JOINT HOMES AND HOUSING STRATEGY
	Appendix A - Joint Homes and Housing Strategy (OCT 2022)
	Appendix B - Joint Homes and Housing Strategy Delivery Plan

	9 JOS/23/23 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTION TRACKER
	10 JOS/23/24 BABERGH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PLAN
	11 JOS/23/25 MID SUFFOLK OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PLAN



